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Our organisation
About the Law and Justice Foundation 
of New South Wales

Who we are
The Law and Justice Foundation of NSW is an 
independent, statutory, not-for-profit organisation 
established in 1967 to improve access to justice for 
the people of New South Wales. It is incorporated 
in New South Wales by the Law and Justice 
Foundation Act 2000.

Our purpose
Our purpose is to advance the fairness and equity of 
the justice system, and to improve access to justice 
for socially and economically disadvantaged people 
in the community.  

What we believe
Our purpose is underpinned by the following beliefs:

• a fair and equitable justice system is essential for a 
democratic, civil society.

• reform should, where possible, be based on sound 
research.

• people need accurate, understandable information 
to have equitable access to justice.

• community support agencies and non-government 
organisations play a critical role in improving 
access to justice for disadvantaged people.

What we do
• Identify legal and access to justice needs, 

particularly of socially and economically 
disadvantaged people.

• Identify effective legal system reforms and access 
to justice initiatives through evaluation and 
research.

• Improve access to justice through:
– contributing to the availability of 

understandable legal information
– supporting projects and organisations that 

improve access to justice
– disseminating information about access to 

justice and effective reforms and initiatives.

Our goals and objectives

Goal 1: Identify legal need and what works to 
address that need
1.1 Identify legal and access to justice need
1.2 Support policy development and planning 

service delivery 
1.3 Identify what works to address legal need
1.4 Respond to priority access to justice issues

Goal 2: Improve access to justice
2.1 Support projects – our grants program 

(finalisation of remaining grants; no new 
grants made)

2.2   Facilitate legal sector relationships and 
coordination

2.3   Community legal education and referral 
program

2.4   Disseminate data, analysis and information 
to improve access to justice

Goal 3: Cost-effective operations support
3.1 Develop the information management 

capabilities of the Foundation
3.2   Manage resources efficiently and effectively
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Board of Governors

The Board consists of eight members, most of whom 
are appointed for terms of up to three years. The 
Board determines policies for the implementation of 
the objects of the Foundation. The Director conducts 
and manages the affairs of the Foundation in 
accordance with the directions of the Board. Board 
members during the 2020-21 financial year were 
as follows.

 Sharon Cook is the current Chair of 
the Law and Justice Foundation Board 
of Governors. Sharon is the Group 
Executive, Legal & Commercial Services 

at NAB, responsible for Legal, Governance, 
Regulatory Affairs Complaints, Remediation and 
the Customer Advocates. She has been prominent 
in the legal profession for over 25 years, working for 
top tier private law firms, initially as a litigator and 
later as Managing Partner. She is a champion of 
women in the legal profession and has been a leader 
in addressing mental health and well-being among 
lawyers. In 2012 she was named as one of the AFR’s 
inaugural Women of Influence.

 Michael Fordham SC  is a Senior 
Counsel who specialises in Inquests, 
Commissions and Inquiries, medical 
negligence and historical institutional 

child sexual abuse.  Michael was previously the 
Course Director of the NSW Bar Practice Course and 
has an extensive interest and involvement in 
advocacy training.  Michael was admitted to the New 
South Wales Bar in 1996 and was appointed Senior 
Counsel in 2012.

 Steven McAuley is a Councillor of 
the Law Society of NSW. One of the 
Principal Solicitors of McAuley Hawach 
Lawyers, Steve formerly worked for a 

Judge of the Supreme Court of NSW. Steve is also a 
member of the Specialist Accreditation Board, the 
Professional Conduct Committee and the Elder Law, 
Capacity and Succession Committee of the Law 
Society of NSW. Steve is also an Accredited 
Specialist – Commercial Litigation.

 Dr Hugh McDermott MP is the 
Member for Prospect in the NSW 
Legislative Assembly. He is Chair of the 
State Parliamentary Labor Party Legal 

Affairs Committee and Chair of the NSW Opposition 
Disaster Readiness and Response Taskforce. Hugh 
is also a Member of the Joint Parliamentary 
Committee on the Ombudsman, the Law 
Enforcement Conduct Commission and the Crime 

Commission. Prior to his election Hugh was a 
practicing Barrister and Director of the Postgraduate 
Financial Crimes Program at the Australian 
Graduate School of Policing and Security.

 Professor Julie Stubbs is a 
criminologist and Honorary Professor in 
the Faculty of Law and Justice at UNSW 
Sydney. She was previously Professor 

and co-Director of the Centre for Crime, Law and 
Justice at UNSW, Professor of Criminology at the 
University of Sydney, and Director of the Institute of 
Criminology. Before becoming an academic, she was 
a senior researcher with the NSW Bureau of Crime 
Statistics and Research.

 Geoff Mulherin CSC is the Director of 
the Foundation.

 Andrew Smith (from 11 August 2020) 
Andrew Smith is a proud Wiradjuri man 
of the Tubba-Gah people. Andrew was 
admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme 

Court of New South Wales in August 2005. Andrew 
was called to the NSW Bar in 2009. Since being 
called to the Bar, Andrew has appeared in superior 
and inferior courts of record in multiple 
jurisdictions as well as various federal and state 
Tribunals. Andrew primarily practices in the areas 
of building and construction, corporate insolvency, 
commercial, equity and mortgage and securities law. 
Andrew is also an Acting Commissioner of the Land 
and Environment Court, commencing his 
appointment in October 2021. Andrew is currently 
undertaking part-time higher degree research at the 
University of New England in which he is writing a 
thesis in respect of potential wholesale reforms to 
Australia’s insolvent trading laws.

 Jackie O’Brien (from 14 July 2020)
Jackie O’Brien is an intellectual 
property disputes partner at global law 
firm, Norton Rose Fulbright. She was 

head of Norton Rose Fulbright’s Corporate Social 
Responsibility program and the firm’s National Pro 
Bono partner from 2012 to 2021. In those roles, she 
has been part of a team that has provided assistance 
and advocacy in areas such as homelessness, domestic 
violence, modern slavery, and in support of Australia’s 
First Nations peoples. Jackie won the Partner of the 
Year Award in the 2014 Lawyers Weekly Australian 
Law Awards and is a current member of her firm’s 
Graduate Recruitment Committee and National 
Diversity & Inclusion Committee.
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During the reporting period, the Board conducted all but one of the Board meetings via zoom. 
Pictured from top left: Steve McAuley, Geoff Mulherin, Julie Stubbs, Hugh McDermott, Jackie O’Brien, Michael Fordham, 
Sharon Cook (Chair) and Andrew Smith. 

Excerpt from the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000

5  Objects of Foundation

(1)  The objects of the Foundation are to contribute to the development of a fair and equitable 
justice system which addresses the legal needs of the community and to improve access 
to justice by the community (in particular, by economically and socially disadvantaged 
people).

(2)  Without limiting section 6, in attaining its objects the Foundation may do any one or more 
of the following:

(a)  conduct and sponsor research (including inter-disciplinary research) into the law, the 
justice system, alternative dispute resolution and the legal profession,

(b)  collect, assess and disseminate information about the justice system,

(c)  conduct and sponsor projects aimed at facilitating access to justice and access to 
information about the justice system,

(d) promote education about the justice system.
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Year in review

Message from the Chair

Change, challenge and uncertainty
My appointment to the Board of the Law and Justice 
Foundation as its Chair began on the last day of 
the previous financial year, and I must confess that 
my first 12 months with the Foundation has not 
been what I expected! Rather, the year has seen the 
Foundation experiencing probably unprecedented 
change and, for the first time, confronted with a true 
existential challenge.

The first important dimension of that change was 
to the Board of the Foundation. I acknowledge with 
gratitude the work of my predecessor, the Honourable 
Paul Stein, and the members of the previous 
Board. However, as we commenced the reporting 
period a new era was clearly upon the Foundation 
with effectively six of eight Board members newly 
appointed. This was, in many ways, an exciting time, 
as the new Board began to learn of the important 
contribution the Foundation has made to justice in 
New South Wales and beyond for more than 50 years, 
but also as we began to think about future possibilities 
and initiatives.

One such possibility was funding the first sweep 
of what we intended would be annual legal needs 
surveys over multiple years to capture the impact 
of technological and other changes on the legal 
needs of the people in New South Wales since the 
LAW survey, but more importantly, to capture 
progressively the impact of key factors such as 

the bushfires and Covid-19 given their undoubted 
impacts on so many aspects of our personal and 
working lives.

Unfortunately, despite substantial preparation work, 
this project was not to be.

From the beginning of its term the new Board and I 
were aware that the Foundation was facing financial 
challenges. In particular, a decline in the health of 
the Public Purpose Fund (PPF – the core funder 
of the Foundation) since the GFC had seen the 
Foundation’s income progressively decline to the 
point that as the year began the Foundation staff 
had been reduced to quite a small team, and some 
of the key programs, including the Foundation’s 
Grants Program, could no longer be afforded. We 
were unaware of just how critical this funding crisis 
was to become.

In December 2020 we were advised that the 
PPF would not be able to provide core funding 
for the Foundation for the immediate future. 
Notwithstanding that other recipients had ‘lost’ 
PPF funding in recent years, this result was not 
expected as the PPF has been the dominant funder 
of the Foundation, and the Foundation’s annual core 
requirements are relatively small.  

This development changed fundamentally the 
Board’s agenda. With no core funding from 
the PPF in the foreseeable future, a “business as 
usual” approach was no longer possible. It became 
clear that if the Foundation was to be able to 
continue its good work, it needed a new source 
of adequate and sustainable funding. This would 
only be possible if the future role and value of 
the Foundation could be clearly identified and 
articulated.

The first half of 2021, then, saw the Board devoted 
to developing the Terms of Reference for, and 
commissioning, an independent review of the 
Foundation to address key questions including: 
is the work of the Foundation as governed by its 
objects still important and necessary, and if so, is 
the Foundation appropriately placed and structured 
to undertake that work? 

With acknowledgment of the review by the NSW 
Attorney General and by the Department of 
Communities and Justice (DCJ), the Foundation 



 11

engaged Insight Consulting to undertake the review. 
While the bulk of the work of the review has been 
undertaken after the end of the reporting period 
for this report, I am pleased to be able to say that 
while there are obviously areas for improvement 
identified, there remains an enormous respect and 
support for the Foundation and its work from across 
the sector, and a recognition that the work that the 
Foundation does is valuable and important. On the 
basis of this report, the Board of the Foundation 
will be engaging with key stakeholders in relation to 
possible future funding sources.

But continued work nonetheless
I am particularly pleased to report, however, that 
throughout this period of uncertainty and challenge, 
the staff at the Foundation have continued to be  
as committed and productive as always. Readers  
of this report will see in the following pages some  
the achievements of the Foundation during this  
time, including publications aimed at assisting  
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal  
Services to forecast and plan service delivery, the 
development and launch of two powerful and  
user-friendly online interactive data Dashboards 
that assist governments and the legal assistance 
sector to plan services, as well as evaluation 
work with legal aid commissions in New South 
Wales and Victoria. Work also continued with the 
Commonwealth Attorney General’s Department 
(AGD) to provide research and data assistance for 
the implementation of the first year of the National 
Legal Assistance Partnership (NLAP).

And on top of this, as the reporting year was ending 
and Sydney was returning to Covid-19 lockdown, 

the Foundation staff planned and successfully 
implemented a substantial downsizing and 
relocation to new premises.

I would like to thank the staff of the Foundation 
sincerely for their patience and dedication during 
this period. Their commitment to the Objects of the 
Foundation – to contribute to the development of 
a fair, equitable and accessible justice system for 
the people of New South Wales – has probably not 
been more obvious than in this last year, and so on 
behalf of the Board I thank you all for what you have 
achieved.

I would also like to thank my fellow Board members, 
most of whom are also new, but all of whom were 
confronted with an unexpected existential crisis 
whilst in our early days with the Foundation. Board 
members have had to put aside what ideas they 
may have had when they came to the Foundation 
and have had to re-focus towards a review and 
possible new directions.

Finally, I would like to thank all those external 
organisations and individuals with whom the 
Foundation works. I am sure the Director and 
staff thank them more specifically, however the 
engagement of the Foundation with individuals and 
organisations across the legal sector is fundamental 
to our work and so I thank you all for your ongoing 
engagement, and I look forward to that continuing 
into the future.

Sharon Cook
Chair
Board of Governors
November 2021
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Message from the Director

The Chair of the Foundation has already spoken of 
the enormous challenge and uncertainty confronting 
the Foundation during the year. The loss of core 
funding from the PPF, at least for the immediate 
future, and the need to review the direction of the 
Foundation with a view to securing adequate and 
sustainable funding for it to continue to do the work 
that it does, has dominated the strategic thinking of 
the Board during the year.

Notwithstanding this challenge, the Foundation 
remained extremely productive in an environment 
complicated by Covid-19 and premises relocation.

Many highlights
Key highlights of the year have been the launch of 
two user-friendly,interactive data Dashboards to 
assist government and the legal assistance sector 
plan and deliver legal assistance services.

The first of these was the National Legal Needs 
Dashboard. Building on the insights gained from 
the LAW survey and our other legal needs research, 
the Legal Needs Dashboard brings together 
official census data from the ABS, Social Security 
data, criminal data in New South Wales and the 
Foundation’s own set of Need for Legal Assistance 
Services (NLAS) variables. This tool allows legal 
need estimation and planning at the national, 
jurisdictional and local levels, and provides these 
in a way not done before.

The second dashboard is our NSW Criminal 
Finalisation’s Dashboard. Arising out of work for the 
Aboriginal Legal Service (ALS NSW/ACT) in New 
South Wales, the Foundation has pioneered using 
criminal court finalisation data to assist the planning 
legal assistance services for court base criminal 
matters.  Data from all 146 courts across New South 

Wales are  collated and presenting that through an 
accessible dashboard that allows interrogation by 
court type or court location by court circuit clusters 
and even by planning regions. .

Importantly,  these dashboards have been 
accompanied by:

•	 National level and state level webinars to 
introduce and explain the dashboards and how 
they can be of assistance to funders and planners 
of legal assistance services;

•	 short online videos to accompany each dashboard 
to ensure that users coming to the dashboards can 
readily learn to navigate their way around, and get 
value from, the dashboards; and

•	 in relation to the criminal finalisation’s 
dashboard, we have published two short papers 
to explain the methodology behind the work we’ve 
done and how that could be applicable to the 
other Australian jurisdictions.

Our work with New South Wales and Victoria legal 
aid commissions have also provided important 
insights for the sector during the year. While results 
of this work are not always published through 
research reports, they have nevertheless contributed 
valuable insights which have been implemented 
within the sector. For example:

•	 A project (with a published report) looking at 
efforts to improve access to Coroners Court 
processes by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
families is already having impact with the New 
South Wales Coroner, Legal Aid New South Wales 
and elsewhere

•	 Our unpublished work for Victoria Legal Aid 
(VLA) reviewing a pilot program supporting 
greater access to lawyers in the cross-border 
region was used to support a VLA decision to 
continue the program.

Of course, a feature of our work during the reporting 
period has been the work undertaken under our 
MOU with the Commonwealth AGD relating to the 
implementation of the NLAP. While much of this 
work is behind-the-scenes, it nevertheless provides 
important New South Wales and evidence-informed 
influence into the NLAP processes. Of course, some 
aspects, such as the National Picture work, is now 
publicly available.

The Aboriginal and Torres Stair Islander Legal 
Services (ATSILS) National Picture and the 
Community Legal Centres (CLC) National Picture 
reports are discussed in more detail later in this 
Annual Report, but for the first time in Australia, 
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the Foundation led efforts to get a national ‘picture’ 
of legal assistance services delivered by these two 
key legal assistance service providers. This is an 
important step g towards what will hopefully be a 
future whereby data collection, reporting and use 
is enhanced to assist in ensuring legal services are 
optimally planned and delivered to meet the needs 
of the community. 

Global recognition of the Foundation’s work has 
continued during the year. Recognition of the 
Foundation and our legal assistance data work 
featured in the recently published UN’ s Praia 
Group Handbook of Governance Statistics, and 
the Foundation’s work underpins the soon to be 
published OECD People-centred Justice Framework.

A disappointment
Of course, one disappointment was the need to 
discontinue our plans for the proposed phased, legal 
needs survey. The methodology chosen provided the 
potential for important insights to be gained about 
how technological and other change over the last 10 
years, and in particular, Covid-19, has  impacted the 
legal needs experienced and pathways for resolution 
chosen by ordinary Australians. Also, with the 
coming global mandatory reporting requirements 
under the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) 
this national legal needs survey would position the 
Foundation well to support such a requirement.

Sector engagement
Ongoing and regular face-to-face engagement 
with the sector has always been a feature of the 
Foundation’s work. The recent loss of our Grants 
Program and the Justice Awards due to the lack 
of funding has reduced the level of engagement to 
some extent, but we have always fought to maintain 
this engagement as this assists the Foundation to 
be able to keep its evidence-based research firmly 
grounded in the practical and day-to-day needs 
of the legal assistance sector.

Covid-19, of course, has impacted our engagement. 
While much can be achieved through online 
meetings, it is more difficult to fully understand the 
challenges, particularly of rural and regional legal 
assistance services, without spending time with them 
where they work. I am pleased to be able to report 
that in the first few months of 2021, when the services 
and the regions were opening up, I was able to spend 
time with services in the Central West, Newcastle 
and the Hunter region, the mid-North Coast and 
Northern Rivers regions. I thank the community legal 

centres, legal aid offices, ALS staff and other related 
service staff for their time and support during those 
visits. We do plan to continue that engagement once 
the easing of restrictions allows.

Productivity under uncertainty
I would like to pay particular tribute to the staff 
of the Foundation who remained as committed 
and productive as always during the year. They 
did this despite a very uncertain environment that 
included not just preparations for a fundamental 
strategic review, but also a relocation to alternative 
premises accompanied by substantial downsizing. 
Whether it be the research team that continued 
the  high-quality research work, or the operational/ 
administrative staff that successfully implemented 
the downsizing, premises move and even the 
transition to a fully cloud-based IT system, all have 
performed extremely well, as I think the rest of 
the report will show. When reviewing this Annual 
Report, should bear in mind that the Foundation at 
present have a team of less than seven FTE.

I would also like to thank the Chair of the Board, 
Sharon Cook, and the other Board members for 
their work during the year. It cannot have been easy 
to arrive at the Foundation and within a few short 
months be faced with the complete withdrawal 
of the Foundation’s core funding. That challenge 
has not been solved yet, but the Board launched 
a process for an independent review to provide an 
appropriate basis for setting the future direction 
for the Foundation. Hopefully this will result in 
attracting appropriate and sustainable funding 
for future operations. I thank them for their 
commitment.

Finally I would like to thank all those individuals 
and organisations with whom we work across the 
sector. The National Picture work brought us in 
close collaboration with ATSILSs, CLCs and legal aid 
commissions across the country, and our research 
alliance work saw us work closely with both LANSW 
and VLA. Within New South Wales, of course, we 
work closely with many individual CLCs, and we are 
particularly grateful for the opportunity to swork 
closely with the ALS on some key areas of work. 
I also thank, of course, our colleagues in the NSW 
DCJ and Commonwealth AGD in particular for 
their support throughout the year. I look forward 
to working with you all into the future.

Geoff Mulherin 
Director 
November 2021
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Performance 2020–2021

Goal 1: Identify legal need and what works to address that need

Using rigorous evidence-based research, evaluation and analysis, identify the legal 
and access to justice needs of the community, and what works (for whom, in what 
circumstances and at what cost) to address those needs; and to use this analysis to 
support effective policy development and service delivery

Highlights from the period

Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 
Department (AGD) 
•	 National Picture of the Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Legal Services across Australia 
2018-19 (November 2020)

•	 National Picture of Community Legal Centres 
across Australia 2018-19 (November 2020)

•	 Legal Aid National Picture – Working paper  
part 1 (2021)

Data tools
•	 National Legal Needs Dashboard (launched 

January 2021)
•	 Locating legal assistance demand: Using courts 

data to support legal service planning for First 
Nations people in NSW, Data Insights in Justice 
paper 3 (July 2021)

•	 Using court data to support planning legal 
assistance for First Nations people, Data Insights 
in Justice paper 4 (July 2021)

•	 Criminal Finalisations Dashboard (July 2021)

Commonwealth legal assistance sector 
planning strategic advice project
•	 Provided strategic and technical advice and 

key guidance for the implementation of 
the National Legal Assistance Partnership 
(NLAP)

•	 Key input into enhancing the Data standards 
manual

Legal Aid NSW Research Alliance
•	 Review of Pathways to a grant of aid (September 

2020)
•	 Review of the use of Extended Legal Assistance 

(ELA) across the three legal practice areas 
(September 2020)

•	 A review of culturally appropriate services in and 
practices in Coroners Courts in Australia (April 
2021)

VLA Research Alliance
•	 Evaluation of VLA’s telephone legal information 

services to clients (December 2020)
•	 Flexible Forum Test (2021)

International – OECD
•	 Access to Justice and the COVID-19 Pandemic – 

Policy Brief (September 2020)
•	 Framework towards a people-centred justice 

system (forthcoming)
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Overview

The following strategies underpin the Foundation’s 
research work:

• Identify legal and access to justice 
need (its nature, distribution across the 
community, the vulnerability of particular 
groups etc.)

• Support policy development and planning 
service delivery

• Identify what strategies work to address 
legal need (in particular circumstances,  
cost-effectiveness etc.)

• Engage with the legal assistance sector to 
respond to priority and emerging access 
to justice issues.

These strategies contribute to the achievement 
of the Foundation’s statutory objects through 
providing rigorous, evidence-based research and 
analysis to support policy development and assist in 
the planning and implementation of effective legal 
services to meet the needs of the people of NSW.

Responding to the needs of the sector
While all of our research projects are directed 
in this way, a major feature of our operations 
in recent years, including this reporting 
year, has been working in close collaboration 
with key parts of the sector to create insight 
into the planning and delivery of effective 
legal assistance services.  Research alliances 
with Legal Aid NSW and Victoria Legal Aid, 
as well as work sponsored under an MOU 
to support the Commonwealth Attorney 
General’s Department in their legal assistance 
responsibility, have been major features of 
this work. While some of this activity may not 
have resulted in formal research publications, 
much of it has been critical to enabling work 
that has had an important influence on 
government policy and legal aid programs.

Strategy 1.1 Identify legal and access 
to justice needs

Use rigorous evidence-based research, 
evaluation and analysis to identify the legal 
and access to justice needs of the community

Access to Justice and Legal Needs 
research program (2001–ongoing)

The Foundation’s Access to Justice and Legal 
Needs (A2JLN) program has sought to provide 

a rigorous and sustained assessment of legal 
and access to justice needs in New South Wales, 
especially of disadvantaged people. This has been 
a long-term program of the Foundation that has 
applied a range of methodologies to gain ongoing 
insight into the legal and access to justice 
needs of the community, and of socially and 
economically disadvantaged people in particular, 
to be used by government, community and other 
organisations to develop policy and plan effective 
and efficient service delivery.

From the start of the program it was recognised 
that concepts such as ‘access to justice’ and 
‘legal need’ do not have consistent or universally 
accepted definitions, and interpretation of 
these terms have evolved over the course of 
our A2JLN program. To be as comprehensive 
as possible with the investigations in the 
program, the Foundation adopted a scope for the 
program to include examination of the ability of 
disadvantaged people to:

• obtain legal assistance, including information, 
basic legal advice, initial legal assistance and legal 
representation

• participate effectively in the legal system, 
including access to courts, tribunals and formal 
alternative dispute resolution mechanisms

• obtain assistance from non-legal early 
intervention and preventive mechanisms, 
non-legal forms of redress and community-based 
justice

• participate effectively in law reform processes.

The program adopted three research methodology 
streams to approach the issue of legal need from 
intersecting directions:

• Analysing services actually delivered. 
Analysing the ‘administrative data’ recording 
the services actually provided by legal assistance 
services in order to gain insight into who the 
clients are, the types of matters for which legal 
assistance is sought and obtained, and the 
pathways people take when seeking to resolve 
their legal problems.

• Capturing a representative picture of 
the legal problems experienced by the 
community. Legal needs research globally and 
in Australia has consistently revealed that the 
majority of legal need does not appear in the 
formal justice system, nor even to lawyers/
legal service providers. Following and extending 
international best practice, the Foundation 
undertook a series of legal needs surveys (LNS) 
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in the A2JLN program. Rigorously conducted 
LNS remain the only realistic means of obtaining 
a representative picture of the legal needs across 
a whole community. 

• Studies targeted at specific priority/
vulnerable groups. These two methodologies 
were complemented by targeted studies of 
particular groups and issues. This allowed 
the program to give attention to those groups 
and their legal needs that may not feature 
strongly through the first two methodologies, 
but importantly also recognises the value of 
insights gained through deeper engagement with 
communities and those who work with them. 

Identifying legal needs: insights from 
service data

The A2JLN program began by assessing what could 
be learnt about the legal needs the community (and 
of disadvantaged people in particular) by analysing 
legal assistance service delivery data.Following 
legal needs survey work in the United Kingdom, 
Canada and Australia (including the Foundation’s 
LAW survey), it is now clear that legal assistance 
service data in an environment where need greatly 
exceeds services available does not generally provide 
a comprehensive or representative picture of legal 
need. Nevertheless, legal assistance service delivery 
data can provide useful insights into the legal needs 
of the community, particularly at the local level, as it 
can (for example):

• provide well-connected local services with timely 
insights into trends in legal need concerning 
particular priority groups in local areas, and

• provide important insights into the pathways 
people take when seeking to resolve the legal 
problems, and the services engaged (or not 
engaged) to assist them when confronting a legal 
problem.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal 
Services (ATSILS) National Picture and 
Community Legal Centres (CLC) National 
Picture (November 2020)
                               Undertaking the 

first ever national 
level analysis and 
reporting of 
service delivery 
data of the 
Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait 
Islander Legal 

Services and, separately, community legal centres  
formed part of our work under the MOU with the 
Commonwealth Attorney General’s Department. 
Importantly, this work was conducted in 
collaboration with the ATSILS and CLCs across all 
states and territories.

These National Pictures have provided an important 
snapshot of legal services delivered across the 
country, in response to the legal needs experienced 
by the community. They have:

• provided a comprehensive snapshot of the 
services provided by ATSILSs and CLCs in 
response to legal need across Australia

• provided insights into the range of clients 
served across Australia by ATSILSs and CLCs

• provided insights into the types of problems 
people seek legal assistance for from a CLC

• highlighted the complexity of legal assistance 
service delivery required to respond to legal 
needs in the different contexts across Australia

• established a useful ‘start point’ in the development 
of more rigorous and comprehensive datasets 
across providers for the legal assistance sector. 

Legal Aid NSW Jurisdictional Profile (2021)
A Legal Aid National Picture, similar to the 
ATSILS and CLC reports, is highly desired, but 
has many challenges, including data availability 
and significant differences in systems between 
legal aid commissions. Legal Aid NSW have been 
very supportive of the program and provided the 
necessary data for a NSW profile component of the 
National Picture. 

The Legal Aid National Picture – Working paper 
part 1, NSW Jurisdictional Profile 2018-19 has 
been completed in 2021 and presents an analysis of 
service data similar to that of the ATSILS and CLC 
National Picture reports. This working paper is a 
further step towards the completion of the National 
Picture series.

A sustained assessment

It is important to see individual projects 
within the A2JLN Program as part of an 
overall whole, and to consider project 
findings as cumulatively adding to 
our understanding of legal need. The 
publications produced as part of the A2JLN 
Program can be found here. 



 17

Identifying legal needs: applying 
insights from legal needs surveys

Legal need surveys are increasingly 
becoming an essential part of any attempt 
to gain a comprehensive and representative 
understanding of the legal needs of a 
community or jurisdiction. 

While a new legal need survey is long overdue 
(see section below), the Foundation has taken 
the insights gained from the Australian LAW 
Survey, our earlier LNS, and LNS from similar 
jurisdictions internationally, and applied 
these to more readily available and current 
data to provide a range of proxies and useful 
approximations of legal need.

National Legal Needs Dashboard

The National Legal Needs Dashboard was launched 
in January 2021 and is an interactive online data 
tool to assist in identifying potential legal need in 
the community and help legal assistance services 
in Australia to be planned and delivered according 
to need.

This was a key focus of the Foundation’s legal 
need work during the reporting period, reflected 
principally in the development and launch of the 
National Legal Needs Dashboard, and the 
Estimating Legal Needs video guiding users 
in the use of available data to estimate legal need 
in their communities or jurisdictions.

Work towards a new legal needs survey 
 The Foundation’s LAW Survey, 

published in 2012, remains the 
most comprehensive and rigorous 
assessment of legal needs of the 
community conducted in 
Australia. However, the fieldwork 
for the LAW Survey was 
completed in 2008, and although 
it continues to be appropriate to 

rely on many of its findings as it remains the most 
reliable assessment of the legal needs in the 
community, much in Australian society has changed 

Key features of the Dashboard

Supports legal assistance planning at three 
levels: the national level, the jurisdictional 
level, and at the local/regional level.  

It allows users to drill down from national 
to local geographies, and explore legal 
need in the community across multiple 
geographies including national, cross-
border regions, areas within states/territories, 
or your own customised area clusters.

Allows users to easily access a rich set of 
relevant data sources

Drawing on a valuable set of available 
data sources including Australian Bureau of 
Statistics Census data, social security data, 
and NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and 
Research (BOCSAR) data. The dashboard 
also draws on the Foundation’s own Need for 
Legal Assistance Services (NLAS) Indicators.

Users can easily tailor the data to meet their 
planning needs

Select geographic and demographic 
variables to generate custom snapshots of 
potential legal need for priority groups in 
the community specifically relevant to your 
planning.

Interactive map and charts bring the data 
to life

Use the interactive map to explore potential 
legal need at a national, state or local 
level. Charts provide an easy way to select, 
identify and visualise specific demographic 
variables such as age, employment, and 
social security status.
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since the LAW Survey. The Productivity Commission 
in its 2014 report recommended regular LNS in 
Australia beginning in 2016. 

In 2018-19 the Foundation consulted widely across 
the sector, gaining feedback on the issues of most 
importance to the sector, and concluding that a new 
legal need survey was needed. This need is even 
more important following the Covid-19 pandemic 
and its impact. 

In response to this need, the Foundation planned 
a staged LNS, surveying 2,500 people in each of 
four annual sweeps, commencing with the capture 
of the legal problem experiences of the community 
in 2020. This approach was chosen as it would 
eventually provide a total sample of at least  
10,000 respondents (to allow for comprehensive 
analysis of many priority groups and issues) but 
would also potentially allow for the identification  
of trends over the period 2020-23 as the 
community responded to the impacts of  
Covid-19. 

Key activities undertaken during 2020-21 included:

• Staff developed the detailed project proposal, and 
this – with the utilisation of Foundation funds to 
undertake the fieldwork for the first sweep of the 
survey early in 2021 – was approved by the Board 
in October 2020.  

• Key stakeholders from the sector, government 
and academia joined the Foundation’s LNS 
advisory group to inform decisions in relation 
to the main themes and areas of focus for the 
survey, including priority questions for inclusion 
in the survey. This allowed us to develop a 
comprehensive new questionnaire. 

• We conducted a rigorous full tender exercise to 
identify a research company to undertake the 
interviews – a process which involved extensive 
examination and decisions around key questions 
of detail to ensure the quality and validity of the 
ultimate findings. 

In December 2020, however, upon being informed 
of the likely cessation of core funding support for 
the Foundation from the PPF, the Foundation 
discontinued the project. 

Identifying legal need: insights from 
court data

Identifying legal need is an important first step in 
a logical process to plan for and deliver services to 
address that need. Whereas broader civil and family 
legal need is difficult to precisely identify, criminal 

law legal need (particularly court-based need) offers 
the potential for more refined legal need estimation. 
For example, analysis of appropriate criminal court 
data from the 146 criminal courts located across 
New South Wales, can provide valuable proxy 
information regarding the potential need for legal 
assistance in criminal matters.

Previously the Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/
ACT) Ltd (ALS) had approached the Foundation 
to explore whether such data analysis could assist 
them in determining the likely need for their 
services, which in turn could inform their planning 
and resource allocation decisions. After providing 
our initial analysis, the Foundation has continued 
to work on exploring the value of such data as a 
potential indicator of criminal legal need.

During the reporting year the Foundation undertook 
important new steps with this work, including:

• publishing two “Data Insights in Justice” papers 
outlining the methodology and value of this 
approach to identifying legal need, and

• developing and launching an interactive and  
user-friendly Criminal Finalisations Dashboard.

Locating legal assistance demand: Using 
courts data to support legal service 
planning for First Nations people in NSW, 
Data Insights in Justice paper 3 (July 2021)
 This paper reports on the project 

aimed to support service planning 
for the Aboriginal Legal Service 
(NSW/ACT) Ltd by identifying the 
need for legal assistance for 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people in all NSW 
criminal courts. It described the 
methodology of sourcing and 

analysing relevant data and devising a proxy 
indicator for potential demand for legal assistance in 
criminal courts settings. The study used criminal 
courts statistics (sourced from the NSW Bureau of 
Crime Statistics and Research) on finalisations with 
Aboriginal defendants over a five-year period, from 
2012 to 2016, to analyse and map the distribution of 
potential demand for services across all court 
locations in NSW.

The paper was significant in demonstrating the 
value of this approach and this data as a means of 
identifying priority legal needs.
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Using court data to support planning legal 
assistance for First Nations people, Data 
Insights in Justice paper 4 (July 2021)
 Following our initial work with 

criminal finalisation’s data in New 
South Wales the Commonwealth 
AGD approached the Foundation 
and part funded us to explore the 
feasibility of such an approach 
nationally. This report presents 
our findings on the possibility of 
expanding the model designed for 

NSW to the national level and using courts statistics 
as a proxy indicator of potential demand for legal 
assistance in criminal court settings across 
Australian jurisdictions. We conducted a feasibility 
study to assess data availability across all 
jurisdictions in 2018 and applied the model to 
another jurisdiction through the mapping and 
analysis of Queensland Courts statistics over the 
period 2013-14 to 2017-18.

Criminal Finalisations Dashboard

The Criminal Finalisation Dashboard was launched 
in July 2021 and had grown out of our work with 
the ALS in developing a proxy indicator of potential 
demand for ALS services in NSW. 

The dashboard is an interactive, online data tool 
that maps and analyses trends in counts of criminal 
finalisations across all court locations in NSW over 
an eight-year period (2012-2019). It uses data on 
criminal finalisations from BOCSAR as a proxy 
indicator of potential demand for legal assistance in 
court settings. Data and trends can be examined at 
local or state level, and using specific groupings of 
court locations (such as court circuits or all courts 
within legal assistance catchment areas) that can be 
tailored to suit users’ needs. It also includes data for 
all defendants, that can be filtered by defendant’s 
Indigenous status.

Strategy 1.2 Support policy 
development and planning service 
delivery

Combining our knowledge gained in identifying 
legal need and what works to address that 
need, with rigorous analysis of legal sector 
and other data, to support the planning and 
delivery of legal services.

Commonwealth legal assistance sector 
planning strategic advice project

In early 2019 the Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 
Department (AGD) approached the Foundation to 
provide expert support and advice as they undertook 
the complex task of developing all that would 
be required with the introduction of a new and 
evolved national partnership arrangement for the 
2020–2025 period. The Foundation entered into a 
first Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with 
the AGD in April 2019 to undertake this work, and 
this has been extended by subsequent addendums. 
A third addendum to the MOU was entered into 
in April 2020 which also extended the scope and 
work of the support provided by the Foundation 
throughout the 2020-21 year, to particularly focus on 
the implementation of the NLAP. 

The National Legal Assistance Partnership 
(NLAP) commenced on 1 July 2020, and during 
the reporting period, the Foundation undertook 
several key tasks.

Strategic and technical advice
The Foundation provided the Commonwealth 
with frequent strategic and technical advice in 
relation to a range of relevant issues including 
research and evaluation methodologies, issues 
in relation to data collection, quality, interpreting 
and analysis, and other areas relevant to the 
planning and delivery of legal assistance services 
that came within the Foundation’s expertise.

Key guidance for NLAP implementation
The NLAP details a range of reporting 
requirements and other mandatory activities for 
the commonwealth, states and territories and 
the legal assistance sector to undertake with the 
overall aim of improving knowledge about the 
sector and a progressive improvement in the 
planning and delivery of services to meet the 
needs of the community. The Commonwealth has 
been required to provide appropriate guidance 
for these reporting and other requirements, and 
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the Foundation has, to varying extents, provided 
substantive advice and input to the development of 
these guidance documents. These guides include:

• Service model case study guidance. 
There has long existed large knowledge gaps 
concerning the complexities, challenges and 
costs of delivery legal assistance services 
across NSW and the nation. The Foundation 
assisted the Commonwealth to write guidance 
to capture this information over the term of 
the NLAP.

• Client survey guidance. Client surveys 
can give much insight into the quality and 
effectiveness of services. The Foundation 
assisted the Commonwealth prepare guidance 
for the reporting of the mandatory NLAP 
questions.

• Estimated time spent guidance. The 
Foundation provided initial advice to the 
Commonwealth on how they might approach this 
complex task 

NLAP Case study review

Under the NLAP all states and territories are 
required to submit at least two ‘service model’ 
case studies to improve sector knowledge each 
year. The first were required in March 2021. 
The Foundation was tasked under the MOU by 
the Cth AGD to review the submissions and to 
capture lessons and good practice.

Our NLAP Case Study Review for the 
Commonwealth comprises of two parts; Part 1 
Appropriateness and Accordance, and Part 2 
Practice Learning. 

• Part 1 Appropriateness and Accordance 
reported on an assessment of the extent 
to which the case studies submitted by 
jurisdictions were appropriate and in 
accordance with the Guidance. It also 
provided recommendations for areas where 
the Guidance could be enhanced. This report 
was submitted to the Attorney General’s 
Department on 27 May 2021. The report and 
its findings were accepted at a meeting with 
the Cth AGD on 10 June 2021 and a request for 
Part 2 to be commenced was received. 

• Part 2 Practice Learning of the NLAP Case 
Study review is a summary document that 
presents findings of a content analysis along with 
recommendations for maximising the utility of the 
case study program for future reporting periods. 

The summary document was submitted to the 
Cth AGD on 29 July 2021.   

Data standards manual
 The National Legal Assistance 

Data Standards Manual (DSM) 
was first introduced in 2015/16. 
Its purpose is to guide the 
collection of consistent service 
data to support the legal 
assistance sector. Whilst 
further work is required to 
achieve rigorous data 

collection, the implementation of the DSM played 
a crucial role towards more consistent and 
reliable service data across the legal assistance 
sector. 

During the reporting year the Foundation 
provided (and continues to provide) key input 
to the Commonwealth AGD and the sector in 
relation to enhancing the DSM and bringing it 
into line with the new NLAP and, in due course, 
future legal assistance service data strategy. 

National Pictures
Discussed earlier (Section 1.1), the National 
Picture development has been one of the projects 
under the MOU with the Commonwealth AGD. In 
addition to the contributions made to identifying 
legal needs, the national picture work:

• Identifies and highlights the challenges 
facing the legal assistance sector as it seeks to 
enhance data collection and data utilisation

• Identifies key areas for future work to improve 
the quality and comprehensiveness of legal 
assistance service data to make it suitable for 
service delivery planning

• Provided a sound data ‘start point’ for the new 
governance arrangement of the NLAP.

Supporting collaborative legal service 
planning 

A key component of the Foundation’s work under 
Strategy 1.2 has been our support to collaborative 
service planning, both in NSW and nationally. 

Long-term support for Collaborative Service 
Planning
Since the Foundation began the A2JLN program 
we have been involved in progressively sourcing 
and providing tools and information to assist in the 
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planning and delivery of effective legal service. Steps 
included:

• The Data Digest (2003): a first ever data scan, 
collection and assessment of service data from 
legal assistance services and a range of other legal 
and quasi-legal services to capture the legal needs 
for which services were being delivered

• The Data Digest Online (DDO)  
(2006-2014): provided service delivery data from 
legal assistance services through a series of online 
dashboards

• Legal assistance Data Digest (LASDD) 
(2014 to 2017): Building on the DDO, the Legal 

Assistance Services Data Digest (LASDD) 
brought together standardised data from New 
South Wales public legal assistance services and 
selected Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 
demographic data. It contains information on the 
types of legal matters about which inquiries are 
made, the demographic characteristics of those 
seeking legal assistance and the pathways that 
service users take to resolve their legal problems. 
The data has been used to provide information 
on how the legal problems recorded by legal 
assistance vary across different geographic areas 
of New South Wales, how they change over time 
and how they vary in different communities. 

Collaborative Planning Resource (CPR) 
(2015 – present)
The Foundation has drawn upon our experience in 
working with legal service and sociodemographic 
data in the New South Wales context and breadth 
of knowledge of the legal assistance services sector 
in developing a resource to support planning at the 
national level. The CPR has two components:

• The Foundation’s report Collaborative Planning 
Resource – Service Planning (CPR–SP) outlines 
research evidence on the vulnerability of ‘priority 
groups’ to experiencing legal problems and how 
they respond to their legal problems, including 
the barriers they face in seeking help and their 
capability to resolve those problems. It also 
identifies the implications for designing legal 
service delivery for priority groups, including 
pathways to assistance and service options 
appropriate to their needs and capabilities.

• The second component, Collaborative Planning 
Resource – Jurisdictional Data (CPR–JD), brings 
together data on the geographic distribution for 
each state and territory of the priority groups 
for service. It also presents the geographic 
distribution of a set of new indicators of Need for 
Legal Assistance Services (NLAS) developed by 
the Foundation for this purpose.

• In 2018 the data was updated and made 
available in an interactive online tool, hosted by 
Tableau Public which can be accessed from the 
Foundation’s website. Data for all Australia is 
available in maps, tables and downloadable files.

Collaborative Service Planning support 
during the reporting year
During the reporting year, the Foundation 
continued to work on developing the next 
generation of collaborative planning resources 

Data to support collaborative service 
planning

The planning challenge faced by legal 
assistance services to address the legal 
needs of the community involves multiple 
steps, including: 

• identifying the legal needs of the 
community, and also locating or mapping 
that need,

• identifying what strategies ‘work’ most 
effectively and efficiently to address 
those legal needs experienced by the 
community, 

• tailoring and targeting those strategies 
and services to meet particular groups 
with particular legal needs in particular 
circumstances and locations, and

then monitoring and evaluating services to 
continually review and improve outcomes 
for clients. 

It is essential to use a number of data and 
other information sources (i.e. legal needs 
data, socio-demographic data, service 
delivery data, etc) ideally in a thoughtful 
and nuanced combination, to support 
the planning and delivery of appropriate 
services to meet this challenge. Legal 
needs insight in Australia, for example, will 
be gained through the combination of 
a range of sources, including legal need 
surveys, demographic data from the ABS, 
court data, social service and other official 
data sources, relevant infrastructure data 
(such as transport, social housing and 
similar data), as well as regional and local 
knowledge gained through community 
engagement.



22 Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales l Annual Report 2021

to support the legal assistance sector in NSW as 
well as to support the new legal assistance funding 
agreement. This work occurred with ongoing 
engagement with the sector and government

Consultation with the sector has remained a feature 
of this work: through direct consultations with 
legal assistance providers, through national and 
state-level presentations and webinars attracting 
feedback, though NLAF consultations and, at and 
the national level the IGC Advisory Group and direct 
engagement with the Commonwealth AGD. 

NSW collaborative service planning and 
data support 2020
As part of the development of collaborative service 
planning amongst the legal assistance sector in NSW, 
the Foundation was a key member of the NLAF 
Collaborative Service Planning Working Group 
(CSPWG), and during the period developed prototype 
data packs and tools to support collaborative planning 
at the jurisdictional and regional levels. 

A key project of the CSPWG just prior to the 
reporting year was the development of new ‘CSP’ 
regions for the whole state, and supporting the 
trial of collaborative service planning in four of 
those regions. Having supported this process, the 
Foundation participated in a number of regional 
collaborative service planning activities and 
prepared accessible appropriate data packs for 
the four pilot areas. 

Planning Legal Assistance Knowledge Hub 
(Microsite)
During the reporting year work commenced on 
developing a stand-alone website to support 
governments and the legal assistance sector to 
plan and deliver legal assistance services.

Based on the ‘planning cycle’ articulated regularly 
by the Foundation over recent years, the 
‘microsite’ is being developed to:

• Allow easy access to information and tools to 
support the sector at each step of the planning 
process

• Provide users with a coherent process to approach 
planning

• Provide users with access to specially developed 
check lists, guides, ‘how to’ videos, and useful data 
dashboards to provide practical assistance to their 
planning

• Provide those users that wish to delve deeper 
into key issues easy access to the Foundation’s 
underpinning research papers 

• Potentially assist governments and services 
to meet their requirements under the (NLAP) 
agreement.

• The microsite will be launched towards the end of 
2021.

Strategy 1.3 Identify ‘what works’ to 
address legal need

Identify strategies, initiatives and programs that 
are effective (for whom, in what circumstances 
and at what cost) to address the legal needs of 
the community

Strategic research alliance with Legal 
Aid NSW

The Foundation formed a strategic research alliance 
with Legal Aid NSW in 2012 in order to build an 
evidence base to assist with planning and delivering 
legal assistance services to people in New South 
Wales. The research expertise of the Foundation 
has been used to evaluate legal service delivery 
and how best to gauge the effectiveness of different 
legal assistance strategies in a meaningful and 
sustainable way.

Support has also been provided to Legal Aid NSW 
to build its internal capacity to integrate evaluation 
into project planning. The Foundation draws on 
the lessons learned in evaluating legal assistance 
strategies with Legal Aid NSW to contribute to 
the monitoring and evaluation of legal assistance 
services more broadly.
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Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Families in Australian Coroners Courts: 
A review of the research literature on 
improving court experiences (April 2021)
 Coroners courts in many 

jurisdictions throughout Australia 
are seeking ways to ensure their 
processes and practices are 
culturally sensitive, particularly 
for supporting Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islands families. 

This publication is the result of 
a review undertaken to understand the types of 
support available and to improve the experiences 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander families 
engaged with the coronial system. It does this by 
describing variations in service provision across 
Australian jurisdictions to characterize current 
practices, and by analysing key literature to guide 
discussion and further services development.

This report provides a sound base for reviewing 
culturally sensitive practices within the coronial 
system. The report reveals that culturally specific 
services range from very minimal or ad-hoc services in 
some states, to specialised in-house services in others. 
It also identifies key literature examining experiences 
of families engaged with the coronial process and 
some of the significant challenges that Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander families may face. 

The implications for practice identified by the 
research include cultural training for investigating 
police officers, and the establishment of culturally 
specific units employing Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander staff within each coroner’s court. 
The report has been well received and has been 
tabled at the Select Committee on the coronial 
jurisdiction in NSW. Legal Aid NSW have used the 
report to inform their submission and other work 
involving coronial deaths. 

Extended Legal Assistance: Review 
(September 2020)
Extended Legal Assistance (ELA) provides a 
relatively new method of delivering ongoing services 
to clients (short of providing a more traditional 
‘grant’ of aid, usually when court representation 
is involved), where otherwise they would only 
qualify for discrete one-off services, usually minor 
assistance services. 

The review was conducted in collaboration with 
LANSW staff, and involved the analysis of LANSW 

data. It provided descriptive analysis of ‘who’ is 
receiving ELA services for ‘what’ types of matters 
and ‘how long’ services are open for.  Following the 
completion of this review, and in response to the 
recommendations set out in the report, a number of 
policy changes were identified by Legal Aid NSW for 
implementation. 

Pathways to grants (September 2020)
Legal Aid NSW’s Client Service Strategy 2016–2020 
identified that Legal Aid NSW (LANSW) service 
delivery varied across practice areas, cohorts and 
issues, with inconsistent use of triage and a range 
of eligibility and entry pathways. To address this 
situation, an aspirational outcome of the current 
LANSW Strategic Plan 2018-2023 is to provide high 
quality, client-centred and targeted services that are 
tailored to meet clients’ needs and capability. 

To inform this strategy and improve understanding 
of client pathways, LANSW asked the Foundation 
to review data on grant applicants and the prior 
services these clients had received from within 
Legal Aid. The initial scope of this work was 
limited to examining the type and volume of 
services provided to clients before they received 
a grant, including how many Advice and/or Duty 
services clients received prior to being approved 
for a grant. The scope was later widened to include 
an understanding of the source of applications and 
the factors related to the approval of grants of aid.

The report authors presented their draft findings 
at a workshop organised by Legal Aid in August 
2020 and the final report was submitted in 
September 2020.

Research alliance with Victoria 
Legal Aid

In June 2015, the Foundation began a research 
alliance with Victoria Legal Aid. As with Legal 
Aid NSW, the alliance enabled the Foundation to 
explore the effectiveness of frontline legal service 
delivery and further build the evidence base 
through examination of what works and why.

Review of Victoria Legal Aid Information 
Services
The alliance was renewed in 2018 and a two-year 
project commenced to review the role of Victoria 
Legal Aid information services. This work aimed 
to assist Victoria Legal Aid to understand more 
about where legal information sits within their 
service provision and will inform decisions about 
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which services are provided to which clients and 
when. This research also provided insight into the 
effectiveness of information services as a means of 
meeting the legal needs of the community.

Stage A included a literature scan of research 
evidence on legal information services a draft 
information services program logic and a paper 
outlining options for evaluating information 
services. These were completed in 2018–19.

Stage B comprised an assessment of the value of 
Victoria Legal Aid’s telephone information service 
with a final report published in December 2020.

Law informed: the value of telephone legal 
information services to clients (December 
2020)
 The focus of this research was to 

measure the value of legal 
information and referrals 
provided to clients calling Victoria 
Legal Aid’s Legal Help line. 

The research compared a client’s 
own experience and recall of what 
was provided to them during the 

telephone call, with Legal Help staff’s assessment of 
the call and their record of the information and/or 
referrals provided.  Clients were interviewed again 
three months later and asked about the status of 
their legal problem and the actions they had taken 
since speaking to Legal Help. 

Client experience of the service they received 
was usually positive, with an immediate boost 
to wellbeing and increased confidence. There 
were some anecdotal suggestions of direct links 
between the information provided and successful 
outcomes. However, the recommendations draw 
attention to the risk of a referral merry-go-round 
and inappropriately empowering clients to continue 
to pursue matters due to the almost universal 
provision of referrals. The findings suggested that 
clients who called with problems of longer duration 
and those with a greater number of vulnerabilities, 
were less well served by a service that is restricted 
to providing information and referrals.   Victoria 
Legal Aid are using the research findings to inform 
decisions on the role and delivery of information 
services within their broader service provision.

Cross-border Flexible Forum test pilot

Victoria Legal Aid commissioned the Foundation 
to undertake a review of the Flexible Forum Test  

(FFT) pilot program. The ‘standard’ Forum 
Test is used to clarify which legal aid commission 
(LAC) is responsible for providing a grant of legal 
assistance to clients in the NSW-VIC border region. 
It does this based on which state or territory the 
matter is going to be heard.  It is unable to take into 
account  a client’s state of residence or in which 
state the legal assistance is based. Findings from 
the Cross-border Justice report, a joint project 
between Legal Aid NSW and Victoria Legal Aid, 
identified the need for both LACs to work together 
more effectively to support the legal needs of people 
living along the shared border. 

The FFT pilot trialled a more flexible approach to 
applying the forum test for clients living in NSW/
VIC border communities. The FFT allows clients 
living in the cross-border communities who are 
seeking a grant of assistance for a Commonwealth 
law matter to choose the most appropriate legal 
assistance and apply to either LAC for a grant 
of assistance regardless of the state the matter 
will be heard in.  The findings from this review 
were provided in an evaluation report for internal 
consideration by Victoria Legal Aid to inform the 
future of FFT. 

The report consisted of a review of the 
operationalisation of the FFT pilot, gathered 
through qualitative interviews, and a quantitative 
analysis of administrative data.  

• The qualitative interviews examine the 
experiences of clients who were approved for a 
grant of aid (by VLA) under the FFT; and private 
practitioners on the family law panel for Legal Aid 
NSW and/or VLA.  The findings were presented 
to describe how the flexible approach to the forum 
test worked in practice, including identifying 
any unintended consequences and/or enduring 
barriers. 

• A quantitative analysis of the uptake of the FFT 
pilot was conducted to support the qualitative 
study. It included descriptive analysis of the 
distribution of grants of aid applied for and/
or approved, by LAC and by client location. 
A comparison of approval timelines and outcomes 
between the two LACs was presented to provide 
insights into differential use of FFT. Two models 
were provided to estimate the potential ongoing 
resource commitment. 

Victoria Legal Aid announced after reviewing the 
findings of our evaluation, that a permanent flexible 
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forum test has been introduced to support access to 
justice in the cross-border region. 

Strategy 1.4 Respond to priority access 
to justice issues

Engage with the sector and respond to priority 
and emerging access to justice issues

In addition to our formal research program, the 
Foundation continually monitors activity across 
the sector by:

• tracking and reporting relevant literature (Justice 
Access Research Alert)

• regular stakeholder consultation including 
visits to legal service providers and related 
organisations across New South Wales 

• participating in key legal sector review and 
advisory bodies

• attending conferences and workshops
• maintaining relationships with frontline 

practitioners from government and  
non-government organisations.

Supporting evidence-informed practice

The Foundation encourages a culture of 
evidence-informed practice through attendance 
at conferences and delivering presentations, and 
through publishing summaries in the area of 
access to justice and legal need in the bimonthly 
Justice Access Research Alert (JARA) newsletter.

The Director and staff gave a number of 
presentations on our work in the reporting year.

Research presentations and training 
delivered to the sector 

• ‘Pathways to Grants’, Legal Aid NSW workshop 
13 August 2020, Geoff Mulherin, Bianca Blanch 
& Catriona Mirrlees-Black 

• ‘Online data tool to support service planning: 
introduction to the National Legal Needs 
Dashboard’ 

 –  Attorney-General’s Department, Legal 
Assistance Branch 28 October 2020, Geoff 
Mulherin & Delphine Bellerose 

 –  NSW Legal Assistance Forum (NLAF) 
Collaborative Service Planning working group, 
2 November 2020, Geoff Mulherin & Delphine 
Bellerose 

 –  IGC Advisory Group, 12 November 2020, Geoff 
Mulherin & Delphine Bellerose 

 –  Department of Justice, Western Australia, 23 
November 2020, Geoff Mulherin & Delphine 
Bellerose 

 –  Law and Justice Foundation of NSW Webinar 
28 January 2021, Geoff Mulherin & Delphine 
Bellerose 

 –  Community Legal Centre of NSW, 24 February 
2021, Geoff Mulherin & Delphine Bellerose 

• ‘Law informed: the value of telephone legal 
information services to clients’, Legal Information 
and Referral Forum Meeting, 9 March 2021, 
Catriona Mirrlees-Black 

• ‘Law informed: the value of telephone legal 
information services to clients’, Community Legal 
Centres Queensland, 11 March 2021, Catriona 
Mirrlees-Black 

• ‘Triage: When demand outstrips supply’, 
Community Legal Centres Queensland, 11 March 
2021, Kerryn Butler 

• Podcast ‘The Epidemiology of Law’ in Podcast 
series ‘Reimaging Justice’, March 2021, Geoff 
Mulherin

• ‘Online data tool to support service planning: 
introduction to the National Legal Needs 
Dashboard’ – Attorney-General’s Department, 
Legal Assistance Branch, 14 May 2021, Geoff 
Mulherin & Delphine Bellerose 

• ‘Tools for Legal Assistance Planning’ presented to 
Central West CLSD meeting, Dubbo, May 2021

• ‘Parent Peer Support Project launch’ speech, 
University of Newcastle, 18 May 2021, Geoff 
Mulherin

• ‘Legal Assistance Services: Data and planning 
tools’, Guest Speaker Presentation to June 2021 
NLAF Plenary, Geoff Mulherin

Conferences attended

• ‘Election watch: the perils of pre-election polling’, 
United States Studies Centre, 18 August 2020, 
Geoff Mulherin & Catriona Mirrlees-Black 
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• ‘Using Evaluation results – How evaluators 
can put improvements into action’, Australian 
Evaluation Society, 26 August 2020 Kerryn Butler

• ‘Are you evaluation ready? Improving the 
evaluation capability and culture of your team’, 
Australian Evaluation Society, 15 October 2020 
Kerryn Butler

• ‘‘Investing in and Financing Justice: In Search 
of Policy Solutions for Sustainable Scaling up of 
Effective and Accessible Justice’, Global Week for 
Justice, 19-24 October 2020, Geoff Mulherin

• ‘Economic evaluation: Benefits and Barriers’ – 
Interactive session, Australian Evaluation Society, 
26 November 2020 Kerryn Butler

• ‘Australian Consortium for Social & Political 
Research (ACSPRI) Methodology Conference’, 
December 2020, Catriona Mirrlees-Black, 
Delphine Bellerose, Kerryn Butler 

• ‘Evaluation questions you (normally) can’t ask’ – 
Interactive session, Australian Evaluation Society, 
25 February 2021, Kerryn Butler 

• ‘Legal Services from Non-lawyers’, 16 March 
2021, Victoria Law Foundation Research Network 
webinar, Delphine Bellerose 

• True Grit: Impartiality, disinterest and the 
avoidance of truth in evaluation’, Australian 
Evaluation Society, 26 March 2021 Kerryn Butler

• ‘‘OECD Virtual Roundtable on Accessible and 
People-Centred Justice’, 30 March to 1 April 2021, 
Geoff Mulherin

• ‘Evidence and Implementation Summit 2021’, 
30-31 March 2021, Catriona Mirrlees-Black, 
Delphine Bellerose & Kerryn Butler 

• ‘Community Legal Centres NSW Quarterlies’, 
May 2021, Catriona Mirrlees-Black, Kerryn 
Butler, Delphine Bellerose and Geoff Mulherin

• ‘Advancing partnerships with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander Organisations’, Child 
Family Community Australia (CFCA), 16 June 
2021, Catriona Mirrlees-Black & Kerryn Butler 

• ‘Understanding legal need in your local area: 
data-informed strategic planning’, CLCs 
Australia, 19 June 2021, Catriona Mirrlees-Black 
& Delphine Bellerose 

• ‘Identifying and responding to legal need’, 
22 June 2021, Victoria Law Foundation Research 
Network webinar, Delphine Bellerose

• ‘International Legal Aid Group (ILAG)
Conference’, 22-24 June 2021, Geoff Mulherin

• ‘Closing the Gap on Aboriginal Over-
Representation in the Justice system’, 23 June 
2021, BOCSAR’s Winter Seminar Series 2021, 
Delphine Bellerose 
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Global impact

Global Handbook of Governance Statistics: 
Praia Group

   The Praia Group was 
established in 2015 by the UN 
Statistical Commission 
(UNSC), with a mandate to 
“contribute to establishing 
international standards and 
methods for the compilation 
of statistics on the major 
dimensions of governance”. 

It is a collaborative effort of national statistical 
offices, international organisations and civil 
society organisations.  

The purpose of the Handbook of Governance 
Statistics is to provide a foundation for the 
development of international statistical 
guidance and standards in all areas of 
governance statistics. The Foundation was 
invited (and contributed) to the chapter on 
Access to and quality of justice. The Handbook 
outlines existing standards, emerging good 
practices and provides guidance on how 
to measure many aspects of Sustainable 
Development Goal 16 (SDG 16), including 16.3 
– ‘Promote the rule of law at the national and 
international levels and ensure equal access 
to justice for all’. The Foundation’s approach 
to utilising a range of data sources to assist 
in planning and delivering legal assistance 
services is featured in the Handbook.

You can view the Handbook here

OECD and the Foundation

Since first approached by the OECD in 2015 to 
be involved in their access to justice program, 
the Foundation has been building a strong 
collaborative research relationship with the 
Organisation for Economic Co-operation 
and Development (OECD). “One of the most 
consequential international economic and 
policy governance bodies in the world”, it 
works towards establishing evidence-based 
international standards and finding solutions to 
a range of social, economic and environmental 
challenges.

2020-2021 collaborative achievements

The 2020-21 period saw the Foundation work on 
the following key projects:

Access to Justice and the Covid-19 pandemic 
(September 2020)

 This OECD/Law and Justice 
Foundation of NSW 
co-authored policy brief 
focuses on the immediate and 
medium-term consequences of 
the Covid-19 crisis for justice 
systems and their users, and 
lays the foundations for 
discussion on access to justice 

issues in a post-pandemic world. 

People-centred justice framework (forthcoming)

A key stage in the OECD approach to policy 
issues is the development of appropriate 
frameworks. The OECD engaged the 
Foundation to be the principal drafter and 
advisor for the OECD People-centred Justice 
Framework. The draft framework has been 
reviewed by OECD member nations and a 
global research network, and is due to be 
published in November 2021. 

Virtual OECD Roundtable on accessible and 
people-centred justice (March 2021) 

As part of the work undertaken on drafting the 
People-centred justice framework, the Director 
led a session on Delivering People-Centred 
Justice: Towards a Framework at the OECD’s 
Virtual Roundtable on accessible and people-
centred justice in March 2021.

‘I am writing to thank you for your leadership 
in promoting the global work on access to 
justice. The New South Wales’ Law and Justice 
Foundation has played a significant role in 
shaping the OECD work on access to justice. 
The Foundation’s empirical research strongly 
contributed to building the international 
evidence base in understanding legal needs, in 
what works in meeting those needs, and in the 

development of a business 
case for justice services, as 
also featured in some OECD 
reports.’ 

Marcos Bonturi (Director, 
Public Governance 
Directorate, OECD) to NSW 
Attorney-General Mark 
Speakman (25 April 2019)
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Key engagements 2020/2021

The Director and staff maintain regular visiting and consultation programs throughout NSW and 
Australia, engaging with Aboriginal Legal Service offices, Legal Aid offices, community legal 
centres, courts and other Department of Justice officials, Family Violence Prevention Legal 
Services, neighbourhood centres, Members of Parliament, regional law societies and various 
community groups and other relevant human services agencies. This ensures the Foundation’s 
work, and its research in particular, is well grounded in the practical reality of legal service 
delivery and the needs of diverse communities. 

During the reporting year, the impact of Covid-19 and the resulting lockdowns and travel 
restrictions has impacted the level of the Foundation’s consultations.

Key engagement during the reporting period is summarised below.

New South Wales

•	 Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Ltd 

•	 Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Ltd – 
Dubbo office 

•	 Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Ltd – 
Kempsey office 

•	 Australian Pro Bono Centre 

•	 Children’s Court of NSW 

•	 Cooperative Legal Service Delivery Program 

•	 Community Legal Centres NSW 

•	 Department of Communities and Justice 
NSW 

•	 Central Tablelands and Blue Mountains 
Community Legal Centre

•	 Gilbert + Tobin 

•	 Hunter Community Legal Centre 

•	 LawAccess NSW 

•	 Law Society of NSW 

•	 Legal Aid NSW 

•	 Legal Aid NSW – Dubbo Regional Office

•	 Legal Aid NSW – Lismore office

•	 Legal Aid NSW – Port Macquarie Office

•	 Legal Information Access Centre, State 
Library of NSW

•	 Newcastle Law School 

•	 Newcastle Law School – Life Without Barriers

•	 Northern Rivers Community Legal Centre

•	 NSW Legislative Council 

•	 NSW Bar Association 

•	 NSW Bureau of Crime Statistics and 
Research (BOCSAR)

•	 NSW Law Reform Commission 

•	 Public Interest Advocacy Centre 

•	 State Library of NSW 

•	 South West Sydney Legal Centre 

•	 Women’s Domestic Violence Court 
Advocacy Service 

•	 Women’s Legal Service NSW

•	 Women’s Safety NSW

Australian Capital Territory

•	 ACT Association of Community Legal 
Centres 

•	 Legal Aid ACT 

•	 Women’s Legal Centre ACT 

Northern Territory

•	 Department of the Attorney-General and 
Justice 

•	 North Australian Aboriginal Justice Agency 
(NAAJA) 

•	 Northern Territory Association of Community 
Legal Centres 

•	 Northern Territory Legal Aid 

Queensland

•	 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Legal 
Service Queensland 

•	 Community Legal Centres Queensland 

•	 Department of Justice and 
Attorney-General 

•	 Legal Aid Queensland

South Australia

•	 Aboriginal Legal Rights Movement 

•	 Department of Justice South Australia

•	 Community Legal Centres South Australia 

•	 Legal Services Commission of South 
Australia 



Tasmania

•	 Community Legal Centres Tasmania 
•	 Tasmanian Aboriginal Community Legal 

Service

Victoria

•	 Australian Bureau of Statistics 
•	 Federation of Community Legal Centres 

Victoria 
•	 Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service 
•	 Victoria Law Foundation 
•	 Victoria Legal Aid 
• Shadow Attorney-General of Australia
• Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service
• Victoria Law Foundation
• Victoria Legal Aid

Western Australia

•	 Aboriginal Legal Service WA 
•	 Community Legal WA 
•	 Department of Justice
•	 Legal Aid Western Australia 

National

•	 National Legal Aid 

•	 Australian Bureau of Statistics 

•	 Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 
Department 

•	 Law Council of Australia  

•	 Health Justice Australia 

•	 Human Rights Commission 

•	 Justice Connect

•	 Community Legal Centres Australia

•	 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Legal Service (NATSILS)

International engagement

•	 OECD

•	 OSJI – Open Society Justice Initiative

•	 Osgoode Hall Law School, York University, 
Canada

•	 University College, London

•	 World Justice Project

•	 Hague Institute for International Law
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Clockwise from top left: Geoff Mulherin (LJF) with Hannah Robinson, Patrick O’Callaghan, (Principal Solicitor) and Lianne 
Davids at Western NSW CLC, Dubbo; Geoff Mulherin (LJF) and Kevin Smith (Aboriginal Field Officer) at ALS Kempsey; Geoff 
Mulherin (LJF) with CLSD attendees from Port Macquarie region; Geoff Mulherin (LJF) with Ash Johnstone (Acting CEO) and 
Hayley Foster (outgoing CEO) at Women’s Safety NSW



30 Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales l Annual Report 2021

Goal 2: Improve access to justice

Improve access to justice through the support and conduct of selected projects, 
community legal education and referral programs, and the dissemination of data, 
analysis and information

Overview 

Beyond our research work, the Foundation has 
always employed a number of other strategies to 
improve access to justice:

• Support legal projects – our grants program
• Facilitate legal sector relationships and 

coordination
• Community legal education and referral program
• Disseminate data, analysis and information to 

improve access to justice.

In December 2018, the Board of Governors of the 
Foundation had to make the difficult decision to 
cease the grants program, due to lack of funding. 
Since its inception, the grants program has made a 
valuable contribution to the legal assistances sector, 
providing essential seed funding for projects and 
trials of innovative approaches to service delivery. 
The cessation of the grants program leaves a gap as 
community organisations have few avenues from 
which they can seek support for pioneering ideas to 
improve access to justice.

Nevertheless, the remaining projects supported by 
the Foundation’s grants program will provide new 
insights as they are completed.

Strategy 2.1 Support projects – the 
grants program

Prior to the cancellation of the grants program in 
December 2018, the Foundation approved projects 
through a rigorous selection process that met all of 
the Foundation’s criteria in that they were:

• responsive to greatest need – aim to meet the 
needs of those groups, or address those issues, for 
which there is greatest need

• research informed – informed by the most 
up-to-date research and by relevant community 
input

• likely to succeed – highly likely to achieve their 
aim 

• rigorously assessed – robust in the face of a 
rigorous internal and external assessment process

• providers of broader lessons – likely to yield 
lessons for the sector, particularly in relation 

to what works to address legal needs in the 
community.

The Foundation believes that its strict criteria 
have played a fundamental role in ensuring that 
all the projects supported by our grants program 
have not only benefited communities but also 
yielded important lessons for the sector as a 
whole. 

Completed grants

CHILD PROTECTION 

 Parents Helping Parents: Parent 
Peer Support Project 

Newcastle Law School 

AMOUNT: $49,990 

PROJECT NEED: Research 
conducted by the Newcastle Law 
School and Life Without Barriers, 
with support from Family 

Inclusion Strategies in the Hunter (FISH), found 
that parents in the care and protection jurisdiction 
in the Hunter Valley lack support in their parenting 
role. They find it very difficult to participate in 
legal and other processes they encountered and 
described their relationships with their children 
being damaged, which further reduces the chance 
of their children being returned to their care. Courts 
and formal legal processes are alienating for almost 
everybody who doesn’t work within them. This is 
so much more so for parents at risk of having their 
children taken from them. Providing support and 
advocacy for vulnerable parents facing the care 
system is essential if we want a fair system and one 
that delivers better outcomes. Important also is the 
need to design services that are appropriate to the 
people concerned. This project sought to trial a new 
approach to providing lived experience support to 
parents and families in these difficult circumstances.

OUTCOME: The project provided education, 
support and advocacy to parents, including support 
delivered by trained and supervised peers (that 
is, parents who have successfully navigated the 
child welfare system and can use this experience 
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to help others). The project team then further 
adapted during the project to suit the parents 
being supported and to accommodate the changes 
due to COVID-19. The provision of plain language 
information in accessible and understandable 
formats for the people concerned is essential to 
support participation in justice processes. This 
project has ensured that a range of accessible and 
relevant factsheets are now available. 

Still active grants

DOMESTIC AND FAMILY VIOLENCE

Domestic and family violence podcast series 

Women’s Domestic Violence Court Advocacy 
Services NSW

AMOUNT: $49,767

PROJECT NEED: Research shows that podcasts are 
becoming increasingly popular in the community 
but there are no Australian podcasts that focus on 
this aspect of domestic and family violence. There 
is a need for innovative education resources and for 
resources which are discreet and do not compromise 
the safety of women experiencing violence. There 
is also a need for information which can inform 
and educate the friends and family of these women, 
as they are most likely to be the first contacts and 
supports. 

INTENDED OUTCOME: The project intends to 
produce a series of eight podcasts, each utilising an 
engaging narrative approach to improve community 
knowledge about domestic and family violence, as 
well as address experiences of marginalised women 
such as Aboriginal women, CALD women, and 
women with a disability.

INDIGENOUS AUSTRALIANS

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander participation 
in child protection decision-making in NSW 

University of Technology Sydney

AMOUNT: $43,446.50 

PROJECT NEED: This project will address the gap 
in knowledge concerning the failure to hear, or 
give appropriate weight to, Indigenous voices in 
child welfare decision-making in NSW. It will also 
address the need to both define what meaningful 
participation entails, and propose how to implement 
processes in which meaningful participation, 
as provided for in s. 12 of the Children and Young 
Persons (Care and Protection) Act 1998 (NSW), 
can be given effect. 

INTENDED OUTCOME: The project intends to 
document compliance with, and breaches of, the 
rights of Indigenous families and organisations to 
participation in child protection decision-making in 
NSW, as well as develop practical ways to implement 
Indigenous peoples’ participatory rights in child 
protection decision-making. The project is nearing 
completion.

Bugmy Evidence Library 

Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) Limited 

AMOUNT: $36,241.20 

PROJECT NEED: The High Court judgment in Bugmy 
v The Queen (2013) stated that ‘In any case in which 
it is sought to rely on an offender’s background 
of deprivation in mitigation of sentence, it is 
necessary to point to material tending to establish 
that background’. There is no current ready access 
to material to satisfy that evidentiary requirement 
identified by the Court. 

INTENDED OUTCOME: This project intends to 
produce and make freely available a body of 
material regarding the social disadvantage of certain 
Aboriginal communities, for use as evidence in 
sentencing matters. The library will be used for 
any Aboriginal offenders being sentenced from the 
communities profiled for whom evidence of social 
disadvantage is appropriate.

LOW INCOME

Debtors’ Guide to Local Courts in NSW (4th edition) 

Macarthur Legal Centre 
AMOUNT: $32,400 

PROJECT NEED: This plain language guide about 
the debt recovery system for people facing debts in 
NSW has been widely used by financial counsellors, 
community workers, legal practitioners and debtors 
representing themselves since 1991. Significant 
changes to the law and debt recovery practices in the 
last few years mean that the current edition is now 
out of date and a new guide is needed. 

INTENDED OUTCOME: A thoroughly revised and 
updated edition of the Debtors’ Guide to Local 
Courts in NSW. New information on the Work 
Development Orders scheme and the Financial 
Ombudsman Service will be included.
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Strategy 2.2 Facilitate legal sector 
relationships and coordination

NSW Legal Assistance Forum

The Foundation continues to participate 
in and support the work of the NSW Legal 
Assistance Forum (NLAF), which promotes 
collaboration and coordination in the provision 
of legal services in New South Wales to 
socially and economically disadvantaged 
people. The Foundation is a member of the 
Executive Group of NLAF (with Legal Aid 
NSW,  Community Legal Centres NSW and 
the Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT)) 
and provides administrative and operational 
support to the NLAF Project Manager, who is 
based at the Foundation’s office. Foundation 
staff also participate in NLAF’s working groups.

Cooperative Legal Service Delivery 
Program 

The Cooperative Legal Service Delivery (CLSD) 
Program, managed by Legal Aid NSW, is a 
regionally-based approach to legal service delivery 
in New South Wales. It aims to improve outcomes 
for economically and socially disadvantaged people 
by building cooperative and strategic networks of 
key legal services and community organisations. 
The Foundation is a member of the CLSD Program 
Steering Committee and regularly attends regional 
meetings. The Foundation contributes to CLSD 
regional planning days through the provision of 
tailored data packs. This year, the Foundation 
remained an active member of the Steering 
Committee and addressed data related ad-hoc 
queries from the Committee and regional 
coordinators.

Strategy 2.3 Community legal 
education and referral program

Research indicates that lack of knowledge of the law, 
legal processes and existing legal assistance services 
in the community may lead to poor outcomes in 
resolving legal problems, particularly for those 
who are socially and economically disadvantaged. 
Community legal education and referral initiatives 

have the potential to play a critical role in addressing 
this need.

Increasing access to plain language 
legal information – Plain Language Law 
newsletter

The Foundation publishes our Plain Language 
Law (PLL) newsletter six times a year, which 
provides information about upcoming CLE, and 
new plain language law resources and guides 
to the law. PLL is broadcast to more than 1,400 
subscribers from the community, legal and 
government sectors.

Legal Information and Referral Forum

The Foundation established LIRF in 2002 
to address the challenge of the ‘referral 
roundabout’ in the legal assistance sector and it 
has performed the role of convenor until recent 
Foundation staff reductions. Participants have 
consistently reported that LIRF is a valuable 
tool to facilitate information sharing so that 
disadvantaged people can be directed to where 
they can best get help for their legal problems.

LIRF illustrates the value that the Foundation, 
as an independent organisation, brings to the 
legal assistance sector. The Foundation remains 
an active participant in LIRF.

Strategy 2.4 Disseminate data, analysis 
and information to improve access to 
justice

Communicating results 

We communicate the results of our research in a 
number of ways, including:

• publishing our research reports in hardcopy, 
on our website, and on USB sticks

• publishing short papers, summary papers and 
excerpts of research reports to make our research 
results as accessible as possible

• publishing regular email research alerts and social 
media notifications to promote our research

• conducting targeted presentations to key 
stakeholders and organisations

• delivering webinars and online videos
• presenting results at conferences.
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NSW Legal Assistance Forum

The NSW Legal Assistance Forum (NLAF) promotes 
collaboration and coordination in the development of legal 
services. Bringing together key legal service providers from 
government, not-for-profit organisations and the private sector. NLAF meets quarterly and, 
during the reporting year, operated four working groups, with the Aboriginal Incarceration 
Working Group finalising while a new working group – Closing the Gap – was formed. NSW 
Attorney-General Mark Speakman SC attended a forum meeting on 2 September 2020

In 2020–21 period, NLAF was chaired by Brendan Thomas, CEO Legal Aid NSW until March with 
Karly Warner, CEO of ALS NSW/ACT, being elected the new Chair. In addition to the working 
groups, NLAF received reports from the Legal Information and Referral Forum and Legal Aid 
NSW’s Cooperative Legal Service Delivery Program. Across the Forum, Covid-19 and its impacts 
were an ongoing point of discussion, planning, and advocacy. 

Aboriginal Incarceration Working Group 
(AIWG)

The AIWG developed strategies and plans 
to address Aboriginal overrepresentation in 
NSW adult prisons by focusing on breaches of 
conditional liberty. The Group confirmed that 
recommendations designed by members had 
been endorsed by the Criminal Justice Board 
and so the Group was finalised in 2020-21.  

Closing the Gap Working Group (CTGWG)

A newly created working group. the CTGWG 
aims to develop strategies and policies around 
the four relevant socio-economic targets, which 
relate to reducing the rate of incarcerated 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults and 
young people, reducing the rate of Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander children in out of home 
care, and addressing the violence and abuse 
towards Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
women and children. Terms of reference were 
agreed for a new CTGWG, to commence in 
the following reporting period. 

Doli Incapax Working Group 

The Doli Incapax Working Group aims to 
promote the consistent application of the 
presumption of doli incapax in NSW. The 
Group continued to work on an information 
hub for practitioners on doli incapax, 
including a checklist that will summarise key 
principles and evidentiary matters, as well as 
the establishment of generic psychological 
reports. It continued to engage with the 
NSW Police on relevant police training 
and development materials.  The Group 
continued to monitor the outcome of the 
review of the Young Offenders Act 1997 

(NSW) and consideration of raising the age 
of criminal responsibility. 

Fines and Traffic Law Working Group (FTLWG)

The FTLWG aims to reduce the number of 
people who experience legal problems 
associated with fines, licence suspension and 
disqualifications. The FTLWG continued its 
advocacy on the impact of bicycle helmet 
fines, particularly on young people, and 
made reform recommendations to the NSW 
Attorney-General. The group also considered 
the Hardship Support Program as well as the 
review of the Fairer Fine Amendments.

Collaborative Service Planning Working 
Group (CSPWG) 

The CSPWG aimed to establish an agreed 
framework to progress a more comprehensive 
approach to collaborative service planning 
in NSW.  Members agreed that CSP NLAP 
arrangements needed to be resolved before 
ascertaining the next steps for the group, so 
the CSPWG has been put on hold.

Prisoners Forum 

The Prisoners Forum aims to provide a 
platform for organisations in the justice 
sector to work to improve access to justice 
and address the legal needs of prisoners in 
NSW. The Forum shared information about 
Covid measures with respect to prisons. It 
also shared information about the in-cell 
technology pilots and the legal information 
that prisoners had access to.  The Forum had 
further discussion around the separation of 
prisoners and the role of s78A of the Crimes 
(Administration of Sentences) Act 1999 (NSW).
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Email newsletters 

The Foundation disseminates information through 
our targeted email newsletters: Plain Language 
Law (PLL), Justice Access Research Alert (JARA) 
and now JARA Focus.

Justice Access Research Alert
The Foundation publishes our Justice Access 
Research Alert (JARA) newsletter six times a year, 
which contains summaries of recent publications 
in the area of access to justice, and related to legal 
need, including research, government reports and 
statistics. JARA is broadcast to more than 1,200 
subscribers including policy makers and those 
responsible for service planning and delivery. The 
content in JARA is identified and the abstracts 
written by Foundation staff. The primary focus of 
JARA is Australian research though it includes some 
research from other jurisdictions.

JARA Focus
Justice Access Research Alert Focus (JARA 
Focus) is a new series developed towards the end 
of the reporting year (although the first edition 
was launched in August 2021) that pulls together 
published resources on justice issues from across 
Australia and internationally, with each issue in the 
series focusing on a particular topic. These resources 
are collated from those that have been included 
in our email alerts, Justice Access Research Alert 
(JARA) and Plain Language Law (PLL), since 2017. 
JARA Focus aims to increase the accessibility of 
key research, policy papers and other resources on 
a topic, but it is not an exhaustive list. Resources 

are included if they remain relevant and meet a 
minimum quality standard, but inclusion should not 
be taken as an endorsement.

Participation on boards, trusts and 
committees 

Throughout the year staff actively promoted the 
Foundation’s work through their participation 
on steering groups, community legal networks 
and advisory boards and committees.

• National Legal Assistance Partnership (NLAP) 
Inter Governmental Committee Advisory Group, 
Geoff Mulherin

• NSW Legal Assistance Forum – Plenary (NLAF) 
Geoff Mulherin (Deputy Chair), Richard Wood

• NSW Legal Assistance Forum (NLAF) Executive, 
Geoff Mulherin, Richard Wood

• NLAF Working Group on collaborative service 
planning, Geoff Mulherin, Catriona  
Mirrlees-Black, Delphine Bellerose

• NLAF Working Group – Closing the Gap, Kerryn 
Butler

• NLAF Working Group on doli incapax, Geoff 
Mulherin

• Cooperative Legal Service Delivery Program 
Steering Committee, Delphine Bellerose, 

• Legal Information Access Centre (LIAC) Advisory 
Board, Geoff Mulherin

• NSW Pro Bono Disbursements Trust Fund, Geoff 
Mulherin (Director)

• OECD Advisory Group on Accessible and  
People-centred Justice, Geoff Mulherin

• University of Newcastle Law School Advisory 
Board, Geoff Mulherin 
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Goal 3: Cost-effective operations support

Optimise the capacity and capabilities of the Foundation through cost-effective 
resource and information management

Strategy 3.1 Develop the information 
management capabilities of the 
Foundation

The Foundation continues to implement  
cost-effective knowledge and information 
management systems to ensure that we make 
the best use of organisational intelligence.

Our approach involves:

• prompt reporting by staff of relevant information 
gathered from attendance at conferences 
and seminars and from the range of sector 
engagement activities we undertake

• use of consistent filing systems and taxonomies 
to ensure that knowledge is easily accessed

• use of integrated databases which allows the 
Foundation to keep track of expertise in the 
justice sector and inform relevant people and 
organisations of our activities.

Strategy 3.2 Manage resources 
efficiently and effectively

Responsible and prudent strategic and business 
planning is central to the Foundation’s performance 
management system. The Business Plan for 
2020-2021 was developed with the aim of achieving 
organisational objectives. Planning entailed a review 
of the achievements and outstanding activities at 
the end of the previous period, and the allocation 
of realistic timelines and resources for undertaking 
projects and other work.

Business management
The Board of Governors met regularly over the 
year, monitoring the Foundation’s performance, 
including the investment portfolio, through regular 
reports against the Business Plan. 

Human resource management
We take a flexible approach to the organisational 
structure to manage changing business imperatives 
with the aim of recruiting, developing and retaining 
high quality staff.

Staff training
The Foundation has an active staff learning and 
development program. The structured training 
undertaken by Foundation staff in 2020-2021 
was restricted due to the impact of Covid-19, 
but consisted of on-line courses and on-line 
attendance at conferences and seminars.

Information technology
The Foundation maintains an effective 
information system with the aim of making 
IT services reliable and secure to support our 
activities with minimal disruption. As a result 
of the Covid-19 pandemic  staff were required to 
work from home for extended periods. Towards 
the end of the year the Foundation moved from 
a physical server environment to a full on-line 
server environment (Azure) accessed via virtual 
desktops. This will allow greater flexibility for staff 
working remotely.

During the year development continued on 
a micro-site (knowledge hub) to provide the 
sector with information and resources to assist 
with planning, delivery and evaluation of legal 
assistance services. 
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Financial report
Governors’ report

The Governors of the Law and Justice Foundation 
of New South Wales (“the Foundation”) submit 
herewith the annual financial report for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2021. In order to comply with 
the provisions of the Law and Justice Foundation 
Act 2000 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-
Profits Commission Act 2012, the Governors report 
as follows:

The names of the Governors of the Foundation 
during the financial year are:

S. Cook 
M. Fordham 
S. McAuley 
H. McDermott 
J. O’Brien (appointed 14 July 2020)
A. Smith (appointed 11 August 2020)
J. Stubbs 
G. Mulherin 

Principal Activities
The Law and Justice Foundation of New South 
Wales was established under the Law and Justice 
Foundation Act 2000 (“Act”) as a reconstitution of 
the Law Foundation of New South Wales.

Pursuant to Section 5 (1) of the Act, the objects of 
the Foundation are to contribute to the development 
of a fair and equitable justice system which 
addresses the legal needs of the community and 
to improve access to justice by the community 
(in particular, by economically and socially 
disadvantaged people).

Pursuant to Section 5 (2) of the Act, the Foundation 
may do any one or more of the following:

(a) conduct and sponsor research (including  
inter-disciplinary research) into the law, the 
justice system, alternative dispute resolution 
and the legal profession,

(b) collect, assess and disseminate information 
about the justice system,

(c) conduct and sponsor projects aimed at 
facilitating access to justice and access to 
information about the justice system,

(d) promote education about the justice system.

The Law and Justice Foundation of New South 
Wales operates predominantly in the geographical 
area of New South Wales.

Review of operations
The net surplus for the year ended June 2021 of 
$386,883 (2020: $507,179) comprises an operating 
surplus of $363,951 (2020:  $459,962) and 
investment returns of $22,932 (2020: $47,217).

In prior years, low levels of core funding forced 
the Foundation to reduce its operations, primarily 
through reducing the number of staff, but also 
through the suspension of its Grants program. 
Notwithstanding this reduction the Foundation has 
continued to conduct important work, including 
for key external clients, such as the Commonwealth 
AGD in implementing the National Legal Assistance 
Partnership (NLAP), and completing several 
research projects for both Legal Aid NSW and 
Victoria Legal Aid. Whilst a major legal needs survey 
was planned during the financial year, in December 
2020 the Foundation was advised there would 
be no funding available from the Public Purpose 
Fund (PPF) for the following financial year. Faced 
with an uncertain future the Governors decided 
to defer this major project and the associated 
recruitment of staff. The on-going low level of staff 
and costs, along with the non-expenditure of funds 
for the legal needs survey contributed to another 
operating surplus. 

In response to the withdrawal of core funding 
from the PPF the Board, with the acknowledgment 
of the NSW Attorney-General, commissioned an 
independent strategic review of the Foundation’s 
role including its objects, appropriate structures 
and required resources. The review is expected to 
be completed before the end of 2021 and will be 
presented to the NSW Attorney-General to address 
the Foundation’s funding requirements.

Change In State Of Affairs
During the financial year there was no other 
significant change in the state of affairs of the Law 
and Justice Foundation of New South Wales other 
than any referred to in the financial statements or 
notes thereto.
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Subsequent Events

COVID-19
Subsequent to the end of the financial year there 
continues to be considerable economic impacts in 
Australia and globally arising from the outbreak of 
COVID-19 virus and Government actions to reduce 
the spread of the virus. As the severity and duration 
of the economic impact of COVID-19 is unknown 
at the date of signing the financial report, the 
Governors are unable to determine with certainty 
any financial effects the outbreak of the virus may 
have on the Foundation in the coming financial 
period. The biggest potential impact is the effect 
of continued Government support required to 
assist NSW entities impacted by COVID-19, or any 
subsequent fiscal consolidation, reducing available 
funds for the Foundation’s operations. No future 
financial effects arising for the economic impacts of 
the virus have been included in the financial results 
for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Loss of Core Funding
Consistent with the advice received in December 
2020, the Foundation has not been allocated any 
funding from the Public Purpose Fund (PPF) for the 
following financial year (2021-2022). As mentioned 
above, the Board has implemented an independent 
strategic review of the Foundations objects and 
operations, and it is intended that the results of this 
review will enable the future funding requirement to 
be addressed. Importantly, however, the Board has 
reviewed the financial reserves of the Foundation 
and has ascertained that the Foundation can 
continue its normal business activities at its current 
level of operations for at least the next 18 months.

There has not been any matter or circumstance, 
other than that referred to in the financial report or 
notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the 
financial year, that has significantly affected or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Law and 
Justice Foundation of New South Wales, the results 
of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 

Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales in 
future financial years.

Indemnification Of Officers And Auditors
During the financial year, the Law and Justice 
Foundation of New South Wales paid a premium 
in respect of a contract insuring the Governors of 
the Foundation (as named above) and all officers 
of the Law and Justice Foundation of New South 
Wales and of any related body corporate against a 
liability incurred as such by a governor or an officer 
to the extent permitted by the Law and Justice 
Foundation Act 2000. The contract of insurance 
prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liability 
and the amount of the premium.

The Law and Justice Foundation of New South 
Wales has not otherwise, during or since the 
financial year, indemnified or agreed to indemnify 
a governor, officer or auditor of the Law and Justice 
Foundation of New South Wales or any related body 
corporate against any liability incurred as such by a 
governor, officer or auditor.

On behalf of the Board of Governors
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Auditor’s report

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation.  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 

Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney, NSW, 2000 
Australia 

Phone: +61 2 9322 7000 
www.deloitte.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of The Law and 
Justice Foundation of New South Wales  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report, being a special purpose financial report, of the Law and Justice Foundation of 
New South Wales (the “Entity”) which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, and the Governors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Entity is in accordance with Division 60 of the Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (the “ACNC Act”) and the Law and Justice Act 2000, including:  

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its financial
performance for the year then ended; and

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1, and Division 60 of
the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Entity in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the ACNC Act and the ethical 
requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the “Code”) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 
Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report has 
been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the Governors’ financial reporting responsibilities under the ACNC Act and 
the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.   

Other information 

The Governors’ are responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this auditor’s 
report comprises the governor’s report included in the Entity’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does 
not include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial report does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Governors’ for the Financial Report 

The Governors of the Entity are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet 
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the requirements of the ACNC Act and the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000 and the needs of the members. The 
Governors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the Governors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial report, the Governors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Entity to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the Governors either intend to liquidate the Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. As part of an audit in accordance with the 
Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:   

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Governors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Governors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Governors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

Cheryl Kennedy 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney, 5 November 2021 
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Governors’ declaration

As detailed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the 
Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales is 
not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors there are unlikely to exist users 
of the financial report who are unable to command 
the preparation of the reports tailored so as to 
satisfy specifically all of their information needs. 
Accordingly, this ‘Special Purpose Financial Report’ 
has been prepared to satisfy the Board of Governors’ 
reporting requirements under the Law and Justice 
Foundation Act 2000 and the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012.

The Board of Governors declares that:

a) the attached financial statements and 
notes thereto comply with Accounting 
Standards to the extent described in Note 1 
to the financial statements;

b) the attached financial statements and notes 
thereto give a true and correct view of the 
financial position and performance of the Law 
and Justice Foundation of New South Wales;

c) in the Governors’ opinion, the attached financial 
statement and notes thereto are in accordance 
with the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000 
and the Australian Charities and Not-for-
Profits Commission Act 2012; and

d) in the Governors’ opinion, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Law and Justice 
Foundation of New South Wales will be able 
to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable.

On behalf of the Board of Governors
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Financial statements

Statement of Profit or Loss and other Comprehensive Income for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

Operating revenue 2(a) 1,875,284 2,049,811

Employment related expense (1,017,482) (1,040,955)

Consultants and contractor expenses (25,914) (49,177)

Premises costs (1,179) (19,764)

Depreciation expense 5,6 (275,863) (260,804)

Audit fees 18 (27,000) (27,015)

Insurance costs (16,417) (15,836)

Information technology & related costs (110,957) (103,773)

Interest on lease liabilities (5,886) (14,501)

Other expenses from ordinary activities (30,815) (58,024)

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 363,951 459,962

Investment income 2(b) 22,932 47,217

Net Surplus before income tax expense 386,883 507,179

Income tax expense relating to ordinary activities 1(e) – –

Net Surplus 386,883 507,179

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax – –

Total Comprehensive Profit for the Year 386,883 507,179

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 44 to 55
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Financial statements

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash assets 14(a) 360,516 168,670

Receivables 3 93,541 –

Investments 4 3,551,363 3,528,431

Other current assets 43,252 51,959

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 4,048,672 3,749,060

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment 5 14,751 15,883

Right-of-use assets 6 21,698 282,122

Other assets 146,973 238,188

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 183,422 536,193

TOTAL ASSETS 4,232,094 4,285,253

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and other payables 7 106,852 121,033

Provisions 8 237,.262 224,546

Lease Liabilities 9 22,997 269,150

Grants and external projects not drawn 10 294,064 466,286

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 661,175 1,081,015

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Provisions 11 12,446 9,655

Lease Liabilities 12 – 22,993

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 12,446 32,648

TOTAL LIABILITIES 673,621 1,113,663

NET ASSETS 3,558,473 3,171,590

EQUITY

Accumulated surplus 3,558,473 3,171,590

TOTAL EQUITY 3,558,473 3,171,590

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 44 to 55
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Financial statements

Statement of cash flows for the financial year ended 30 June 2021

Note 2021 2020
$ $

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts from customers and grants 1,631,329 1,883,092

Interest received 3,182 2,493

Payments to suppliers, employees, and grants and projects (1,244,721) (1,526,071)

Net Cash from Operating Activities 14(b) 389,790 359,514

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds on sale of investment securities 1,000,000 800,000

Payment for investment securities (1,018,514) (1,144,618)

Dividends and interest received 18,514 44,618

(Payment for)/proceeds from fixed and other assets 77,088 (152,726)

Net Cash (used by) Investing Activities 77,088 (452,726)

Cash flows from Financing Activties

Repayment of lease liabilities (269,146) (228,698)

Interest paid on lease liabilities (5,886) (14,501)

Net Cash (used in) Financing Activities (275,032) (243,199)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HELD 191,846 (336,411)

CASH AT BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR 168,670 505,081

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 14(a) 360,516 168,670

Statement of changes in equity for the financial year ended 30 June 2021

2021 2020
$ $

Opening Balance 3,171,590 2,664,411

Net surplus for the year 386,883 507,179

Closing Balance 3,558,473 3,171,590

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 44 to 55
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2021

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Framework
The Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales is not a reporting entity because in the opinion of the 
Board of Governors, there are unlikely to exist users of the financial report who are unable to command 
the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically all of their information needs. Accordingly, 
this “Special Purpose Financial Report” has been prepared to satisfy the Governors’ reporting requirements 
under the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission Act 2012.

The financial report has been prepared in accordance with the Law and Justice Foundation Act 2000 
(“The Act”) and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012, the recognition and 
measurement requirements specified by all Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and the 
disclosure requirements of AASB101 Presentation of Financial Statements, AASB107 Cash Flow Statements, 
AASB108 Accounting Policies Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and AASB 1054 Australian 
Additional Disclosures.  

Basis of Presentation
The financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost and except where stated, does not take 
into account changing money values or current valuations of non-current assets. Cost is based on the fair 
values of consideration given in exchange for assets.

Critical accounting judgements
In the application of the entity’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that 
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects that period only, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards
In the current year, the entity has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (the AASB) that are mandatory for the current annual reporting 
period.

Significant Accounting Policies
Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial 
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the 
underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of 
the financial report:

a) Grant and Project Expenditure

 Grant expenditure in excess of $5,000 requires the approval of, and is at the discretion of, the Board 
of Governors. Grants of $5,000 or less can be approved by the Director. Those approved in the current 
financial year are reported as expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, to the extent 
approved.

 Grant and project allocations not drawn by the recipient at the expiry of the project are, after systematic 
review by recipients and management, written back to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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 In a minor number of instances, grants are advanced by way of loan. Repayment of the loans is usually 
considered remote. Notwithstanding the advance of the funds as loans they are nevertheless treated 
as grants, as described above. If the loans or a portion thereof are repaid, the amounts are brought to 
account as income in the period in which they are repaid.

b) Income Allocation

 Grants received from the Public Purpose Fund for general operations have been brought to account as 
income at a monthly accrual of $120,437. This represents 1/12th of the annual allocation for Law and 
Justice Foundation of New South Wales core activities which, in the financial year ended 30 June 2021 
totalled $1,445,250.

 Grants received from the Public Purpose Fund for specific projects are recognised in accordance with 
the revenue recognition policy for grant funding (see note 1 (l)). 

c) Depreciation

 Depreciation is provided on leasehold improvements, furniture and fittings and office equipment. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount 
of each asset over its expected useful life. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the period of 
the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method.

 The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

  Leasehold improvements Term of the lease

  Furniture and fittings  10 years

  Office equipment 3 years

d) Recoverable Amount of Non-Current Assets

 Non-current assets are written down to recoverable amount where the carrying value of any non-current 
assets exceeds recoverable amount. In determining the recoverable amount of non-current assets, the 
expected net cash flows have not been discounted to their present value.

e) Income Tax

 The Law and Justice Foundation has been granted exemption from Income Tax under Section 50-55 of 
the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

f) Employee Entitlements

 Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and 
long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and the amounts are capable of 
being measured reliably.

 Provisions made in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal values.

 Provisions made in respect of long service leave which are not expected to be settled within 12 months 
are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Law and 
Justice Foundation of New South Wales in respect of services provided by the employees up to the 
reporting date.

g) Payables

 Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Foundation becomes obliged to 
make future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

h) Acquisition of Assets

 Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as 
at the date of acquisition plus costs incidental to the acquisition.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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i) Goods and Services Tax

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) except:

i. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (“ATO”), 
it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivable and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

 The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or 
payables.

 Cash flows are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO 
is classified as operating cash flows.

j) Receivables

 Trade receivables and other receivables are recorded at amounts due less allowance for expected credit 
loss.

k) Investments

 Section 16 of the Act provides that ‘…the Foundation may invest money held by it in any investment 
in which a trustee may invest funds in accordance with the Trustee Act 1925.’. The Foundation’s 
investment policy complies with the Act and, to at least the extent required, the Trustees Act 1925.

 To meet reasonable contingency requirements and to provide sufficient guarantee of resources to 
meet forward commitments at any time, including completion of important long-term projects, the 
Foundation maintains some reserves. These reserves are invested in accordance with the Foundation’s 
investment policy with the aims of generating reasonable returns having regard to the investment 
timeframe and maintaining the real value of invested capital. Reserves are currently invested in cash 
facility trusts operated by NSW Treasury Corporation.

 Investments in financial assets are included in the financial statements at fair value at balance sheet 
date period. Gains and losses on revaluation of investments to fair value are recognised as revenue or 
expenses respectively in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Realised and unrealised gains and 
losses on sale are recognised as revenue or expenses respectively in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. Dividend income is recognised on a receivable basis on the date that shares are quoted 
ex-dividend. Interest from fixed securities and discount securities is recognised as income on the basis 
of the accumulated entitlement that would be received on the disposal of the security according to 
the trading practices accepted by the market for the relevant security. Interest on cash on deposit is 
recognised in accordance with the terms and conditions which apply to the deposit.  

 Derecognition of financial asset

 The entity derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised 
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and 
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

l) Revenue Recognition

 Revenue comprises revenue from grants, royalties and the provision of other services and is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Grant funding

 A number of the Foundation’s programs are supported by grants received from other bodies. These 
grants are assessed to determine if the contract is enforceable and contains sufficiently specific 
performance obligations. In cases where these conditions are met, the transaction is accounted for 
under AASB 15 where income is recognised when the performance obligations are satisfied. Otherwise, 
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the transaction is accounted for under AASB 1058 by recognising the cash (or other asset) and any 
related financial statement element such as a financial liability with the surplus recognised as income 
immediately. 

 Rendering of other services

 Revenue from the provision of other services is recognised over time by reference to the stage of 
completion of the contract; under AASB 15 this is when the customer has consumed the benefits of the 
service and the performance obligation has been satisfied. 

m) Non current assets held for Sale

 Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured, with certain exceptions, at the lower of 
carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell. Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This conduct is regarded as met only when the asset is available for immediate sale in 
its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and customary for such a sale and the sale is 
highly probable. The sale of the asset must be expected to be completed within one year from the date of 
classification, except in the circumstances where sale is delayed by events or circumstances outside the 
Foundation’s control and the Foundation remains committed to a sale.

n) Leases

 Right-of-use assets

 A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, 
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any 
initial direct costs incurred, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for dismantling and removing 
the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset. 

 Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or 
the estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Foundation expects to obtain 
ownership of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful 
life. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

 The Foundation has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for 
short-term leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on 
these assets are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.

 Lease liabilities

 A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially 
recognised at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted 
using the Foundation’s incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less 
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and any 
anticipated termination penalties. 

 When a lease liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of-use asset, or 
to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down.

o) Going Concern

 The financial report for the year ended 30 June 2021 has been prepared on the basis that the Law 
and Justice Foundation of New South Wales is a going concern, which assumes continuity of normal 
business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of 
business. 

 The Foundation is dependent upon the continuation of allocations from the Public Purpose Fund, and 
as at the 30 June 2021 the Governors had been advised that this annual funding would not be provided 
for the financial year 2021-22 and is unlikely in the immediate future.
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 The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis as a result of the following:

• For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Foundation made a surplus of $386,883 (2020: $507,179) 
and generated net cash inflows from operating activities of $389,790 (2020: $359,514).

• The Law and Justice Foundation of NSW has an accumulated surplus of $3,558,473 as at 30 
June 2021, net current assets of $3,387,497 and investments of $3,551,363, which will allow the 
organisation to continue its normal business activity and settle their liabilities as they fall due, for 
a period of not less than 12 months from the date this financial report is signed. 

• The Board of Governors has commissioned an independent strategic review of the Foundations’ 
role with the intent of addressing the Foundations’ future funding requirements.  

 Based on this, the Board of Governors are satisfied that the adoption of the going concern basis of 
accounting is appropriate.

p) New and revised Australian Accounting standards in issue but not yet effective. At the date 
of authorisation of the financial report, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but 
not yet effective.  The Governors are still in the process of assessing the full impact of the application of 
the above standards on the company’s financial statements. 

Standard/Interpretation

Effective for 
annual reporting 
periods on or 
after

Expected to be 
initially applied in 
the financial year 
ending

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Classification of Liabilities as Current or 
Non-Current

1 January 2022 30 June 2023

AASB 1060 General Purpose Financial Statements – 
Simplified disclosure for For-Profit and Not-for-Profit 
Entities

1 July 2021 30 June 2022

AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosure of Accounting Policies and 
Definition of Accounting Estimates

1 January 2023   30 June 2024

AASB 2021-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Transition to Tier 2: Simplified Disclosures 
for Not-for-Profit Entities

1 July 2021 30 June 2022
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2. REVENUE
2021 

$
2020 

$
(a) Operating Revenue

Public Purpose Fund – recurrent funding 1,445,250 1,445,250
Public Purpose Fund – Other Projects 67,972 132,028
Other project funding 258,291 469,200

Other 362 –
Other – Government cashflow boost 100,000 –
Interest revenue: Other financial assets 3,182 2,493
Royalties 227 840
Total Operating Revenue 1,875,284 2,049,811

(b) Investment Income
Dividends and interest on investments 18,514 44,618
Profit/(Loss) on sale of investments 1,358 150
Unrealised gain/(loss) arising from the revaluation of  
current assets – investments 3,060 2,449
Total Investment Income 22,932 47,217

3. RECEIVABLES

Other receivables 93,541 –
93,541 –

4. INVESTMENTS

Managed investment – working capital facility 599,028 1,295,201
Managed investment portfolio – cash facilities 2,952,335 2,233,230

3,551,363 3,528,431
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5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
Improvements

Furniture 
& Fittings

Office 
Equipment Total

$ $ $ $
Gross Carrying Value
Balance as at 01 July 2020 212,386 91,569 159,978 463,933
Additions 14,127 14,127
Disposals –
Balance as at 30 June 2021 212,386 91,569 174,105 478,060

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance as at 01 July 2020 (212,386) (91,569) (144,095) (448,050)
Depreciation Expense – – (15,259) (15,259)
Disposals –
Balance as at 30 June 2021 (212,386) (91,569) (159,354) (463,309)

As at 30 June 2020 – – 15,883 15,883
As at 30 June 2021 – – 14,751 14,751

Aggregate depreciation allocated, whether recognised as an expense or capitalised as part of the carrying 
amount of other assets during the year:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Leasehold improvements – 4,018
Office furniture & fittings – 1,931
Office equipment 15,259 16,136
Premises lease 260,424 238,719

275,683 260,804

Notes to the Financial Statements
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6. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS
Right of use 

Asset 
$

Total 
 
$

Gross Carrying Value
Balance as at 01 July 2020 520,841 520,841
Additions – –
Disposals – –
Balance as at 30 June 2021 520,841 520,841

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance as at 01 July 2020 (238,719) (238,719)
Depreciation expense (260,424) (260,424)
Disposals – –
Balance as at 30 June 2021 (499,143) (499,143)

As at 30 June 2020 282,122 282,122

As at 30 June 2021 21,698 21,698

Contractual maturities of undiscounted lease liabilities as at 30 June 2021 is set below:

Less than a year 22,752
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years –
Greater than 5 years –

22,752

7. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2021 

$
2020 

$
Trade payables 80,379 95,335
Other payables 11,800 11,800
Accrued wages & salaries (note 13) 14,673 13,898

106,852 121,033

8. CURRENT PROVISIONS
Provision for annual leave (note 13) 123,503 116,255
Provision for long service leave (note 13) 113,759 108,291

237,262 224,546

9. CURRENT LEASE LIABILITIES
2021 

$
2020 

$
Lease Liability – Premises 22,997 269,150
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10. GRANTS AND EXTERNAL PROJECTS NOT DRAWN

Grants 59,748 64,738
External projects 234,316 401,548

294,064 466,286

11. NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS
Provision for long service leave (note 13) 12,446 9,655

12. NON-CURRENT LEASE LIABILITIES
Lease Liability – Premises – 22,993

13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
 The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included  

in the financial statements is as follows:

Provision for employee benefits:
Current (note 8) 237,262 224,546
Non-current (note 11) 12,446 9,655
Accrued wages and salaries (note 7) 14,673 13,898

264,381 248,099

14. NOTES TO STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(a) Reconciliation of Cash
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes 
cash on hand and in banks. Cash at the end of the financial year as 
shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related 
items in the Balance Sheet as follows: 360,516 168,670

(b) Reconciliation of Net Surplus to Net Cash Flows from 
Operating Activities
Net Surplus/(Deficit) 386,883 507,179
Depreciation of non-current assets 275,683 260,804
Net unrealised (gain)/loss arising from the revaluation of 
investments (3,060) (2,449)
(Profit)/Loss on sale of investments (1,358) (150)
Dividends and interest received (18,514) (44,618)
Interest paid on lease liabilities 5,886 14,501
(Increase)/Decrease in assets
Receivables (93,541) –
Other current assets 8,707 (10,213)
Increase/(Decrease) in liabilities
Payables (14,181) (4,901)
Provision current 12,716 (42,087)
Provision non-current 2,791 (3,655)
Grants and projects allocated – not drawn (172,222) (314,897)
Net Cash from/(used in) Operating Activities 389,790 359,514
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Significant Accounting Policies

 Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 
recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which revenues and expenses are recognised, in 
respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 1 to 
the financial statements.

(b) Credit Risk Exposures

 Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Foundation. The Foundation has adopted the policy of only dealing with 
creditworthy counter parties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as 
a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Foundation measures credit risk on a 
fair value basis.

 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for 
losses, represents the Foundation’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account the 
value of any collateral or other security obtained.

(c) Interest Rate Risk Exposures

 The Foundation’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by 
maturity periods is set out in the following table.  For interest rates applicable to each class of asset or 
liability, refer to individual notes to the financial statements.

 Exposures arise predominantly from assets and liabilities bearing variable interest rates as the 
consolidated entity intends to hold fixed rate assets and liabilities to maturity.

2021

Average 
Interest Rate 

Variable 
Interest  

Rate 
$

Non-interest 
Bearing 

$

Consolidated 
Total 

$
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits 0.00% 360,516 – 360,516
Receivables – – 93,541 93,541
Other current assets – – 43,252 43,252
Investments – – 3,551,363 3,551,363
Total 360,516 3,688,156 4,048,672

Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors & other 
payables – – 106,852 106,852
Total – 106,852 106,852
Net financial assets 360,516 3,581,304 3,941,820
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2020

Average 
Interest Rate 

Variable 
Interest  

Rate 
$

Non-interest 
Bearing 

$

Consolidated 
Total 

$
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits 0.00% 168,670 – 168,670
Receivables – – – –
Other current assets – – 51,959 51,959
Investments – – 3,528,431 3,528,431
Total 168,670 3,580,390 3,749,060

Financial Liabilities
Trade creditors & other 
payables – – 121,033 121,033
Total – 121,033 121,033
Net financial assets 168,670 3,459,357 3,628,027

16. GENERAL
 The Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales was established under the Law and Justice 

Foundation Act 2000, to contribute to the development of a fair and equitable justice system which 
addresses the legal needs of the community and to improve access to justice by the community; and 
to conduct and sponsor research with the law, the legal system, law reform and other similar activities 
pursuant to Section 5 of the said Act. The Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales operates 
predominantly in the geographical area of New South Wales.

17. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY
 The Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales is dependent on allocations from the Public 

Purpose Fund since its establishment. During the financial year the Foundation was notified that these 
allocations will not be provided for the financial year 2021-22 and is unlikely in the immediate future. 
The Law and Justice Foundation of NSW has an accumulated surplus of $3,558,473 as at 30 June 2021, 
which will allow the organisation to continue its normal business activity and settle their liabilities as 
they fall due, for a period of not less than 12 months from the date this financial report is approved. The 
Board has commissioned an independent strategic review to address future funding requirements.

18. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

2021 
$

2020 
$

Auditing the financial report 27,000 27,015

19. EMPLOYEES 
 Number of employees at end of financial year 7 10
 (FTE in 2021 = 5.8) 
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20.  COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
 Non cancellable operating lease payments:

2021 
$

2020 
$

Not longer than one year 92,795 497

Longer than one year and not longer than five years 18,970 –

Longer than five years – –

111,765 497

 In June 2021 the Foundation entered into a twelve-month agreement for the use of serviced offices at 
66 Clarence St, Sydney. The agreement commenced during July 2021 and expires in July 2022.  

21.  SUBSEQUENT EVENT
 COVID-19: Subsequent to the end of the financial year there continues to be considerable economic 

impacts in Australia and globally arising from the outbreak of COVID-19 virus and Government actions 
to reduce the spread of the virus. As the severity and duration of the economic impact of COVID-19 
is unknown at the date of signing the financial report, the Governors are unable to determine with 
certainty any financial effects the outbreak of the virus may have on the Foundation in the coming 
financial period. The biggest potential impact is the effect of any continued Government support 
required to assist NSW entities impacted by COVID-19, or any subsequent fiscal consolidation, reducing 
available funds for the Foundation’s operations (please see Note 17). No future financial effects arising 
for the economic impacts of the virus have been included in the financial results for the year ended 
30 June 2021.

 There has not been any matter or circumstance, other than that referred to in the financial report or 
notes thereto, that has arisen since the end of the financial year, that has significantly affected or may 
significantly affect, the operations of the Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs of the Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales in future 
financial years.

22. ADDITIONAL ORGANISATION INFORMATION
 Principal Place of Business
 Suite 10.11, Level 11, 66 Clarence Street
 SYDNEY  NSW  2000
 (02) 8227 3200
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Declaration of independence

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Member of Deloitte Asia Pacific Limited and the Deloitte organisation.  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 

Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney, NSW, 2000 
Australia 

Phone: +61 2 9322 7000 
www.deloitte.com.au 

Board of Governors 
Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales 
Suite 10.11, Level 11 
66 Clarence St 
Sydney NSW 2000 

4 November 2021 

Dear Governors, 

LLaaww  aanndd  JJuussttiiccee  FFoouunnddaattiioonn  ooff  NNeeww  SSoouutthh  WWaalleess  

In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, I am 
pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the Governors of Law and Justice Foundation of 
New South Wales. 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Law and Justice Foundation of New South Wales 
for the year ended 30 June 2021, I declare to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012  in relation to the audit; and

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

Yours faithfully 

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

Cheryl Kennedy 
Partner  
Chartered Accountants 

28
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Ltd
Juliana Crofts, Legal Aid NSW – Port Macquarie 

Office 
Melissa Davidson, Commonwealth  

Attorney-General’s Department
Belinda Davis, Northern Rivers CLC
Bill Dickens, Legal Aid NSW – Dubbo Regional 

Office
Rory Downey, Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander 

Legal Service (Qld) Ltd
Tanita Ebeyan, Legal Aid NSW
Dennis Eggington, Aboriginal Legal Service of 

Western Australia Ltd
Lynda Elmir, Legal Aid NSW
David Evenden, Legal Aid NSW
Arlia Fleming, Elizabeth Evatt Community Legal 

Centre + Chair CLCNSW
Hayley Foster, Womens Safety NSW (now at Rape 

& Domestic Violence Services NSW)
Louise Glanville, Victoria Legal Aid
Kate Halliday, Legal Aid NSW
Michelle Hannon, Gilbert + Tobin
Tamsyn Harvey, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 

Department
Lynne Haultain, Victoria Law Foundation
Ariane Hermann, Commonwealth Attorney-

General’s Department
Graham Hill, Legal Aid WA
Cameron Hume, Victoria Legal Aid
Jane Hutchinson, Community Legal Centres 

Tasmania
Katrina Ironside, Community Legal Centres NSW
Kimberley Ison, Victoria Legal Aid

Kerry Jackson, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 
Department

Sharryn Jackson, Community Legal WA
Joan Jardine, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 

Department
Eleanor Jenkin, Victoria Legal Aid
Judge Peter Johnstone, Children’s Court of NSW
Rosy Jolic, Victoria Legal Aid
Melanie Kallmier, Mid North Coast Community 

Legal Centre
Ashwinny Krishna, Federation of Community Legal 

Centres Victoria
Tim Leach, Community Legal Centres NSW
Jenny Lovric, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) 

Ltd
Bridget McAloon, Victoria Legal Aid
Serina McDuff, Federation of Community Legal 

Centres Victoria
Fiona McLeod SC, Law Council of Australia
Catherine McMorrine, Community Legal Centres 

South Australia
Nadine Miles, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) 

Ltd
Rosslyn Monro, Community Legal Centres 

Queensland
Roxanne Moore, National Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander Legal Services
Adam Nott, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 

Department
James Okeby, Community Legal Centres Australia
Meredith Osborne, Legal Aid NSW
Fleur Paech, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 

Department
Sandra Pantic, Commonwealth Attorney-General’s 

Department
Joy Peters, Northern Rivers CLC
Chris Povey, Justice Connect
Sean Robertson, Office of the NSW Attorney-General
Elena Rosenman, ACT Association of Community 

Legal Centres
Nicola Ross, Newcastle Law School
Calinda Sacilotto, Department of Justice South 

Australia
Philippa Scarf, LIAC,  State Library of NSW
Gregory Shadbolt, Aboriginal & Torres Strait 

Islander Legal Service (Qld) Ltd
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Kevin Smith, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) 
Ltd – Kempsey office

Louise Smith, National Legal Aid  
Professor Tania Sourdin, University of Newcastle
Ruby Steele, Legal Aid NSW
Sonja Stewart, Law Society of NSW
Janet Taylor, Northern Territory Association of 

Community Legal Centres
Brendan Thomas, Legal Aid NSW
Kim Todd, Victoria Legal Aid
Sharon Tomas, CLSD Central West Regional 

Coordinator
Dr John Vallance, State Library of NSW

Leiann Vicars, CLSD Coordinator, Kempsey 
Nambucca CLSD

Janet Wagstaff, LawAccess NSW
Nerita Waight, Victorian Aboriginal Legal Service 

Co-operative Ltd
Karly Warner, Aboriginal Legal Service (NSW/ACT) 

Ltd
Juliana Warner, Law Society of NSW
Mary Whitehead, Legal Aid NSW
David Woodroffe, North Australian Aboriginal 

Justice Agency
Philip Wykeham, Legal Aid NSW – Lismore office
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